


Cover Story
As is traditional, HSL's report is in sea green which reflects our 
marine engineering expertise. The diamond mosaics dynamically 
represent our multi-faceted technical capabilities, our consistent 
financial strength and durability. They frame a selection of recent 
infrastructure and construction works including road works and 
a flyover, the new UiTM campus at Mukah, our flagship cutter 
suction dredger and a prestige residential development.

OUR VISION
To be a leading, integrated, professional construction company 
contributing positively to the development of modern 
environments in the region.

OUR MISSION
To deliver high quality marine engineering, civil engineering, 
construction and property development projects on time and 
on budget to our clients’ total satisfaction.

OUR STRATEGY
To maintain a high performance organisation with dedicated, 
competent staff who work together to provide dependable 
project delivery and superior business results.

We’re building your future today



Performance Highlights for 2015

Revenue at RM654.7 million

Earnings before tax at RM101.2 million

Earnings per share of 13.87 sen

Return on Equity at 12%

Total net cash dividend declared for 2015 of 12%

The case to invest:
Why we’re building your future today

•	 Record order book of some 30 projects worth RM2.7 billion with RM2.4 billion 
outstanding as at 31/3/2016

•	 Recent procurement includes 2 mega-projects: Kuching Sewerage P2 and Pan-
Borneo Highway P7

•	 Profitable every reporting period since 1996 listing 

•	 Healthy balance sheet with zero gearing

•	 Strong track record of successful project delivery for over 30 years

•	 Beneficiary of the Sarawak Corridor of Renewable Energy (SCORE) and rural 
development

•	 Niche market player specialising in marine engineering eg. land reclamation

•	 Technical expertise eg. tunneling, rural water supply, flood mitigation, heavy lift etc.

•	 Large portfolio of equipment including dredgers, tugs and barges, cranes, tunnel 
boring machines, excavators etc. 

•	 Award-winning property developer with innovative residential, commercial and 
industrial projects

•	 Largest construction firm in East Malaysia by market capitalisation

•	 Committed to corporate social responsibility and maximising returns to shareholders 

HOCK SENG LEE GROUP



FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

		  2015	 2014	 2013	 2012	 2011
		  RM'000 	  RM'000 	 RM'000 	 RM'000	 RM'000

	 Revenue	  654,736 	 604,721	 548,449	 603,267	  581,515
	
	 Profit	
	 Profit Before Tax	  101,237 	 103,152 	  113,983 	  121,149	  116,598
	 Profit After Tax	  76,198 	  76,927 	  85,202 	 90,694 	  87,268

	 Earnings Per Share (sen)	  13.87 	 13.99 	  15.40 	  16.37 	 15.81
	 Return on Equity (%)	 12.2%	 13.6%	 16.8%	 20.4%	 23.1%

	 Property, Plant and Equipment	  127,434 	  120,266 	  123,453 	 113,906 	  112,647
	 Other Non-current Assets	  194,689 	  188,186 	  184,827 	  159,303 	  94,014 
	 Net Current Assets	  349,747 	  303,002 	  244,299 	  222,237 	  218,725 
							     
		  671,870 	  611,454 	  552,579 	  495,446 	  425,386 
	
	 Financed by						    
	 Share Capital	  116,535 	  116,535 	  116,535 	  116,535 	  116,535 
	 Capital Redemption Reserves	  2,165 	  2,165 	  2,165 	  2,165 	  2,165 
	 Treasury Shares	  (37,859)	  (37,859)	  (36,370)	  (25,672)	  (31,672)
	 Retained Earnings	  577,038 	  515,127 	  454,691 	  386,901 	  322,222 
	 Non-controlling interests	  -   	  -   	  -   	  -   	  206 
	 Non-current Liabilities	  13,991 	  15,486 	  15,558 	  15,517 	  15,930 

		  671,870 	  611,454 	  552,579 	  495,446 	  425,386 

	 Net Assets per share	  RM1.20 	  RM1.08 	  RM0.98 	  RM0.86 	 RM0.75
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Net Cash Dividend Declared%
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Assets 2015
Total: RM657,879,004

Equity and Liabilities 2015
Total: RM657,879,004
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HOCK SENG LEE BERHAD is a marine engineering, civil engineering and construction company.  It undertakes dredging, 
land reclamation and earthworks, road and bridge construction, tunneling and other infrastructure and building works.

Its wholly owned subsidiary Hock Seng Lee Construction Sendirian Berhad is involved in property development and 
building construction while HSL Land Sdn Bhd’s principle activity is investment in real properties.
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FROM THE CHAIRMAN

It has been a year of business as usual and a lot of 
business done. Over a billion ringgit worth of projects 
were concluded during the year, representing a concerted 
effort from our hard working teams and correspondingly 
reflected in record revenue. The successful completion of 
the Kuching City Central Wastewater Management System 
Package 1 and UiTM’s magnificent new campus in Mukah 
were among the significant achievements. 

Earnings are commendable and the Group has maintained 
its unbroken run of sound profitability each quarter since 
our public listing in 1996.

Financial Performance
Results for the year ended 31 December 2015 have seen 
revenue rise to a new high of RM654.7 million while net 
profit before tax was at RM101.2 million.

Revenue for the year 31 December 2014 reached 
RM604.72 million, an historical high at the time, while net 
profit before tax was at RM103.15 million. 

While noting some pressure on our margins, we should 
recognise they remain among the best in the industry. Our 
technical competencies, especially our skills in marine 
engineering and other complex infrastructure works, place 
us in a niche market. Notwithstanding this, earnings have 
been effected by the predominance of smaller open tender 
contracts, the rising cost of labour and equipment and the 
weakening of the ringgit.  

Some 16 projects were completed in 2015, while 21 new 
projects were procured. Water intake and treatment plant 
contracts in the SCORE knowledge hub of Mukah were 
substantial new additions. However, most of the other 
contracts secured in the calendar year were fairly small. 

This changed in the first quarter of this year, 2016, whereby 
a significant injection into our order book ought to create 
strong earnings visibility going forward.

Attractive returns
The Board has recommended a final single-tier tax exempt 
dividend of 7 percent per ordinary share pending approval 
at the Annual General Meeting (AGM) on 19 May 2016.

Added to the interim single-tier tax exempt dividend of 5 
percent paid in October 2015, the cash dividend for 2015 
will total 12 percent. The final dividend shall be payable on 
23 June 2016 with the entitlement date set at 9 June 2016, 
pending approval at the AGM.

HSL continues to be a sound investment choice with a 
dependable earnings stream and attractive dividends. 
Dividend pay-out ratios have been in the vicinity of 20 
percent over the past five years. Both the Employees’ 
Provident Fund and Permodalan Nasional Berhad in 
various capacities remain our main institutional investors. 

Corporate Governance a priority
HSL Group has always operated on the premise that our 
business success must be shared with our investors and 
our community. We appreciate that morality in business is 
paramount to sustainability. To this end, we seek to achieve 
growth in the service of others, not at the expense of them. 
We adhere to the Malaysian Code of Corporate Governance 
in both spirit and substance, insisting on transparency in 
decision making and accountability at every level. Our 
dedicated Board of Directors plays a pivotal role in ensuring 
effective governance frameworks to drive optimum Group 
performance while aiding conformance with all applicable 
regulations.

Dato’ Haji Idris Bin Buang
Chairman

On behalf of the Board of Directors of HOCK SENG 
LEE BERHAD (HSL), I am pleased to present our 
Annual Report and the Audited Financial Statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2015.
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HSL’s Board has a depth and breadth of relevant expertise 
and experience to make for rigorous deliberations and 
sound decision-making. Moreover, by separating the role of 
the Chairman (an independent non-executive director) and 
the Managing Director, there is an enhanced balance of 
power on HSL’s Board. Our team of nine members includes 
four executive directors and five non-executive directors, 
three of whom are independent directors. 

So that its responsibilities are discharged effectively 
and efficiently, the HSL Group Board has several sub-
committees reporting to it. These are the Audit Committee, 
Management Committee, Remuneration Committee and 
Nomination Committee. 

Among its key tasks, the Board manages financial 
performance by approving HSL’s Annual Business Plan and 
reviewing it on a quarterly basis. It makes sure internal 
controls and risk management systems are working to 
safeguard assets and mitigate the challenges inherent in our 
industry. 

HSL has a proven formula for success as is evidenced by 
continuous profitability and the loyalty of our stakeholders. 
We have built our standing around our Charter, Code 
of Ethics and Sustainability statements. Our Corporate 
Governance statement on pages 14 to 18 includes details on 
how we manage our operations, finances, risks, resources, 
accountability and communication to optimise outcomes.

AGM / Investor relations
This Annual Report reviews Group performance over the 
year 2015 and provides insights into what we believe lies 
ahead.

Board members and management enjoy the occasion of our 
Annual General Meeting (AGM) to engage with our valued 
shareholders and respond to any queries. Our AGM on 21 
May 2015 saw the full Board in attendance and positive 
feedback from investors present.

HSL has always placed a high priority on investor relations 
as shown by our recognition at Malaysian Investor Relations 
Association (MIRA) awards. We maintain an open channel 
for all analysts and fund managers and meet frequently 
with stakeholders. We are grateful for the continued 
support and positive consensus on our stock. Our skills 
base, consistent financial results and involvement in the 
vibrant development of Sarawak are acknowledged. With 
our order book more than doubling recently, there is a 
renewed interest in our stock.

Appreciation
Each time we issue this report, I make a point of thanking 
the people who work at HSL. So often we dwell on our 
impressive financials without pausing to pay tribute to the 
people who are executing the work and who are what truly 
make the Group exceptional. HSL staff have a rare level of 
commitment and capacity with both outstanding individual 
leaders and effective teamwork. This professionalism and 
work ethic extends to our Board and I also thank all my 
esteemed fellow Board members for their dedicated service.

To our shareholders I can say, that all we do, we do in 
pursuit of a success we want you to share in. We treasure 
your loyalty and support.

HSL is based in Sarawak, and thus our growth is aligned to 
the dynamic advancement of our home state. In this regard, 
we are fortunate to enjoy visionary political leadership and 
a stable political and economic climate in which businesses 
such as ours can flourish.  

In addition, HSL is grateful to have our established network 
of professional consultants and associates, sub-contractors, 
specialist suppliers, bankers and advisors. We similarly 
appreciate the invaluable guidance and dedicated service 
of the various government departments, councils and 
agencies.

Native motifs adorn the celebration square where contingents will gather for Sukma 2016 to be hosted by Sarawak. The new Aquatic Centre in 
Kuching is ready for the swimming and diving competitions.
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Outlook
This year, 2016, has begun with momentous procurement 
triumphs. Following a year of record turnover, our order 
book was in need of replenishment. To add some RM1.9 
billion worth of new projects in the first quarter of 2016 
was a wonderful way to start the year and sets the Group 
up for strong growth.

Sarawak is abuzz with the implementation of the Pan-
Borneo Highway. Our Prime Minister has referred to the 
multi-billion-ringgit undertaking as a “game changer” in 
terms of its role as a catalyst for economic growth. With 
some 1,000km to be constructed and HSL positioned as 
one of the state’s most accomplished road builders, we had 
reason to be confident of involvement. We are pleased to 
be undertaking, in Joint-Venture, a 76km section of the 
highway from Bintangor junction towards Sibu. HSL holds 
70 percent of the unincorporated JV with Dhaya Maju 
Infrastructure (Asia) Sdn. Bhd.

The other major recent addition to our order book is Package 
2 of the Kuching Centralised Wastewater Management 
System valued at RM750 million which has been awarded 
to Kumpulan Nishimatsu Hock Seng Lee Consortium. We 
are pleased that our Tunnel Boring Machines and hard 
earned expertise in sewerage works will continue to be put 

to use in properly channelling and treating wastewater so 
as to promote the future health of Sarawak’s capital city. 

Aside from the impact of these two mega-projects, there are 
other favourable factors for the Group this year. Sarawak’s 
Chief Minister has declared that the RM5.97 billion allocated 
in the 2016 state budget for development will be used for 
roads, drainage, telecommunications, electricity and water 
supply to improve the livelihood of Sarawak’s rural people. 
All these generate infrastructure and construction works 
and added to the ongoing activities in the SCORE region, 
are likely to keep HSL’s tendering department busy. 

Overall, Sarawak maintains an energy and an emphasis on 
development that benefits our industry. The construction 
sector in the state is expected to grow by 6.4 percent 
in 2016. With the added drivers of an election year, the 
pressures of urbanisation and industrialisation, a focus on 
rural development and the impact of SCORE and the Pan-
Borneo Highway, it is an exciting time to be in Sarawak. For 
HSL, with two mega-project wins in the bag already, we are 
confident of a prosperous year.

Dato’ Haji Idris Bin Buang
Chairman 

A vast new campus for UiTM Mukah is completed in the administrative and knowledge hub of SCORE.
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FROM THE MANAGING DIRECTOR

In terms of productivity, 2015 was a sterling year. The 
on-time completion of some complex and technically 
challenging major projects such as the much-needed first 
package of Kuching’s Centralised Wastewater Management 
System and the stunning new UiTM campus in Mukah was 
most gratifying. Added to this, we successfully handed over 
road works at Balingian, further flood mitigation works in 
Sibu, various road and infrastructure works in the Samalaju 
and Bintulu areas, infrastructure works for Demak Laut 
Industrial Park in Kuching, earthworks in Tanjung Manis and 
a local school building. All in all, this led to record turnover 
for the Group.

The RM275 million worth of new works secured in 2015 
comprised some 21 individual contracts. Similar to 2014, 
around 75 percent of the new works came from the 
dynamic SCORE region of central Sarawak. With Mukah 
developing rapidly and the new UiTM to take its first 
student enrolments in 2016, the urgency to address water 
supply issues in the area gave rise to us winning raw water 
intake and water treatment plant projects worth a combined 
value of RM145 million. Other new contracts included 
administrative offices for the Balingian power plant and for 
Government offices at Samalaju. With ongoing contracts for 
water supply and road works associated with the Tanjung 
Manis halal hub, HSL remains active in all three of SCORE’s 
growth node towns: Tanjung Manis, Mukah and Samalaju.

Though order book replenishment was modest during 2015 
as we focused on concluding some substantial contracts, 
this changed dramatically in the first quarter of 2016 when 
focused procurement efforts bore fruit. As at the end of 
March 2016 our order book had more than doubled to an 
historical high of RM2.7 billion of which RM2.4 billion is 
outstanding.

Packages of the Pan-Borneo Highway are expected to 
be rolled out during 2016 and we were honoured to be 
entrusted with the second to be awarded year to date. The 
package 7 awarded to our consortium is an approximately 
76 km stretch from Bintangor Junction to Julau Junction 

and Sibu Airport to Sg Kua Bridge. In the main, this will 
comprise upgrading the existing single carriage way to a 
dual carriage way of higher specification. Bridges and 
interchanges are also part of the package including the 1.7 
km Durin Bridge over Batang Rajang. Together the earth 
works, piling, drainage works, road works, interchanges, 
bridges and related M&E works will take 51 months. With 
our vast road building experience, strong local networks 
and a fleet of requisite equipment, this should prove a long-
term breadwinner for HSL.

Meanwhile, our proven tunnelling expertise, honed 
during the successful execution of Package 1 of Kuching’s 
Centralised Wastewater Management System helped us lead 
our consortium to successfully secure Package 2, valued at 
RM750 million. This will involve expansion of the sewerage 
treatment facilities, new underground trunk lines and 
connecting up a considerable section of the northern parts 
of Kuching city. The result will be the proper processing of a 
greater proportion of Kuching’s black and grey wastewater 
and further alleviation of river pollution.

Property Development
Hock Seng Lee Construction Sdn Bhd (HSLC), our wholly-
owned subsidiary and property arm, completed the 
boutique Botanika residential development at Batu Kawa 
in 2015. It has several ongoing housing projects in Kuching 
including Highfields Phase 2B, Samariang Aman 2 Phases 4 
and 5 and also a commercial offering named Eden Centre. 

The year’s highlight was the Malaysia Day launch of 
Precinct Premiere, the inaugural residential enclave of our 
aspirational 200 acre mixed development La Promenade. 
These high-end homes which included duplex villas and 
detached bungalows with prices up to RM2.4 million, 
have been selling well. With a bold entry statement along 
the Kuching-Samarahan Expressway, a security complex 
and iconic pine tree clad streetscapes now in place, 
La Promenade has become Kuching’s prestige living 
destination. 

Dato Paul Yu Chee Hoe 
Managing Director

On behalf of the Board of Directors of HSL, it is my 
pleasure to reflect on our performance over the year 
2015 and to examine the prospects of the Group.
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While there is some softening of demand post GST 
implementation and a tightening of federal loan policies, 
we feel our strategic locations, innovative value-for-
money products and strong design aesthetics will keep our 
property division buoyant. Earnings from robust sales across 
all products late in 2015 will be largely recognised in 2016. 
Added to further launches in 2016 including a follow-up 
residential phase called Precinct Luxe at La Promenade and 
Vista Industrial Park (VIP) in Muara Tabuan, Kuching, we 
expect a strong year for the property division.

Sustainability and CSR
Good corporate citizenship and performance sustainability 
are hallmarks of HSL’s business model. Our Corporate 
Social Responsibility (CSR) programme is thus integrated 
with our business plan as is reported upon in this Annual 
Report on pages 8 to 10.

ISO / QMS
HSL’s Quality Management System (QMS) was first 
accredited in 2008. The company has undergone annual 
external audits by Lloyds Register each year since including 
twice undergoing its Renewal of Certification (once every 
three years). The QMS requires vast data collection and 
internal auditing and is an effective guide and monitoring 
tool for the various core office activities and procedures as 
well as for project management.

Moving forward, the International Standards Organisation 
has released the new 2015 series requiring broad 
modifications and updates to the 2008 series. All current 
ISO accredited companies have until 2018 to convert their 
QMS to meet the new requirements. With strong existing 
awareness and a level of implementation that has been 
lauded by Lloyds, HSL expects to achieve compliance with 
the new 2015 series by mid-2017.  

People first
The talents, dedication and capacity of HSL staff are what 
enable our success. We are acutely aware of valuing and 
nurturing our human capital. As at 31 December 2015, 
HSL Group had a total of 752 permanent staff of whom 
207 are office-based and the balance at site or at sea. This 
represents a small increase from the staffing level of the last 
reporting period at the end of 2014 whereby there were 
737 staff members of whom 194 were office based. We 
anticipate additional recruitment this year commensurate 
with the substantial additions to our order book.

HSL Group has always practised merit-based recruitment 
and promotion. In this regard, gender, ethnicity, sexual 
orientation or age are not considerations in staff selection. 
We are mindful and taking steps to enable the Group to 
reach optimum diversity going forward, particularly in 
terms of ensuring the participation of women at the highest 
levels of management. 

While technical fields remain male dominated, HSL has 
in recent years capitalised on the rise in female graduates 
and now employs several female engineers and quantity 
surveyors. At site, the labour shortage combined with better 
conditions and pay, has also seen some woman taking up 
lighter labouring work. Nonetheless, as is the case across 
the construction industry, male employees significantly out-
number females.

In the office, we are able to achieve greater gender parity. 
At a senior management level females pre-dominate in 
the finance and administration department while males 
pre-dominate in the projects department. Overall ethnic 
breakdown of HSL group staff reflects that in the state of 
Sarawak, and in particular, the city of Kuching.  

Valuing the experience of age and the enthusiasm of 
youth in equal measure, HSL employs school leavers and 
encourages retirees to return to or remain in the workforce 
to pass on their experience to the younger generations. 

Our Group will continue to monitor the human resources 
situation closely. Our sound reputation for technical 
excellence and our size of operations help to attract the best 
professional and technical staff. Labour costs have risen and 
the proposed increase of foreign worker levies also adds to 
the outgoings that have to be factored into our bids. HSL’s 
workforce is only 17 percent foreign. Nonetheless, the 
proposed rise in levies, agency fees and wages as well as 
the reduction of AP approvals are issues we are managing 
carefully. The growth of multi-national industries in the 
SCORE region and the rollout of mega contracts during 
the year may further impact labour supply. HSL continues 
to exercise a strategic human resources plan drawing on 
our experience in dealing with these issues so as to avoid 
project delays and cost overruns. 

HSL Annual Dinner for 2015 was themed “Celebrating 
Traditions” and saw staff attend resplendent in their ethnic 
attire. The best dressed awards went to a fearsome Iban 

HSL has projects in all 3 of the SCORE coastal growth node towns of Mukah, 
Tanjung Manis and Samalaju where water supply infrastructure is in demand. 

HSL looks forward to its new high rise office 
headquarters which is now under construction at 

its La Promenade mixed development.
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warrior and an elegant Bidayuh maiden.

In the lead-up to HSL’s 1996 public listing, 1995 was a 
bumper year for recruitment and this translated to a record 
number of 14 twenty years long service award recipients 
for 2015. There were also 7 recipients of the award for ten 
years long service and 2 for an extraordinary thirty years 
long service. Staff members’ children who excelled in 
government examinations were also given incentive awards 
on this occasion. 

At HSL, we strive to provide challenging and rewarding 
careers for all our staff. Expectations for productivity and 
performance are high. Our gatherings and trips as well as 
our quarterly newsletter and various sporting activities forge 
fellowship and promote teamwork. Staff are encouraged to 
see one another as part of one big family with respect and 
understanding for every individual underpinning a culture 
that values giving one’s very best. 

Mega-projects to drive growth
HSL typically has some 30 projects of varying size and 
nature in hand and as of the end of 2015, we had over 
40 on-going contracts including property development 
projects. Our turnover rate over the past 20 or more years 
has been consistent with projects in and projects out. Thus, 
when package 1 of Kuching’s Centralised Wastewater 
Management System and UiTM Mukah came off our books 
during 2015, we were eager to have some injection of new 
works.

Patience and persistence in procurement have meant 
our order book replenishment has now exceeded most 
expectations with RM1.9 billion worth of new works 
secured in the opening quarter of 2016.

As one of the pre-qualified Sarawak-led entities vying for 
the packages of the Pan-Borneo Highway on offer this year, 
we were hopeful our opportunity would come. It has come 
in the form of Package 7- a 76km stretch of this vital mega-
project which will run until 2020.

The first quarter of 2016, has also seen us awarded Package 
2 of Kuching’s Centralised Wastewater Management System. 
We are delighted that our machinery and mastery of tunnel 
boring shall be put to good use once again on a project 
which will stretch until 2021.

With some RM2.7 billion worth of projects now in hand we 
anticipate busy times ahead.

Nonetheless, HSL is still in the running for further bidding 
successes.  We have become well-versed in addressing 
the logistical challenges in the SCORE area and have 17 
ongoing projects there with a capacity to secure more. 
Water supply, access routes and other amenities necessary 
to meet the burgeoning industries and population surge to 
the region will create further demand for infrastructure.

This year, HSL also anticipates vying for other roads and 
bridges, mass reclamation works, flood mitigation, water 
supply, affordable housing and other building construction 
contracts.

Our technical proficiency, notably our marine engineering 
and infrastructure expertise, together with our financial 
standing remain our crucial competitive advantages in 
both procurement and execution. The Group maintains 
substantial cash reserves and is debt free, positioning us 
comfortably to start up our mega projects.

Infrastructure spending under the 11th Malaysia Plan 
coupled with Sarawak’s agenda of elevating the socio-
economic prosperity of the people will give our industry 
considerable lift. As we set about executing our newly 
enlarged order book, we will be vigilant in monitoring and 
moderating the effects of volatile global markets, fluctuating 
oil prices, adverse foreign exchange rates and labour 
constraints. We shall be striving to protecting our industry-
leading margins and, as always, enhancing shareholder 
value. 

With sustainable earnings visibility now extending several 
years ahead, we see 2016 and beyond as a new era of growth 
for HSL and expect to remain among the most consistently 
strong performers on Bursa Malaysia’s construction counter. 

We’re building your future today.

Dato Paul Yu Chee Hoe 
Managing Director

The opening of a detached bungalow show home on Malaysia Day 2015 marked the launch 
of the highly anticipated guarded and gated residences of Precinct Premiere at La Promenade, 

a 200 acre mixed development.

HSL completed numerous roadworks 
during the year including this road on 

the outskirts of Bintulu.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Ethical Marketplace
HSL is steadfastly committed to open, transparent and ethical business practices with a focus on the needs of our stakeholders. 
As a professional construction firm, we are devoted to the highest standards of corporate governance, conscious that it is a 
key requirement of sustainability.

During 2015, we met with several groups of fund managers and financial analysts; both during their visits to Kuching and 
in forums held in Peninsula Malaysia. HSL issues quarterly financial results and announcements are available at the Group’s 
corporate website. The Board members always take the opportunity to engage with the shareholders during our Annual 
General Meeting.

Our operations follow the government agenda to drive the rapid progress of the state of Sarawak and ensure the provision of 
necessary infrastructure. The Pan-Borneo Highway is a notable project which will serve as a catalyst for development. The 
SCORE initiative, which focuses on energy supply and the development of a large swath of central Sarawak, has led to many 
opportunities for HSL while urbanization has given rise to projects such as affordable housing, centralised sewerage, flyovers 
and flood mitigation.

HSL’s policies in regard to transparency, accountability and prudent risk management have enhanced our reputation in the 
industry. We have also demonstrated total reliability in our project delivery across quality and timeliness measures. We 
value merit-based project procurement practices and have a strong tender success rate in prioritized bids. HSL’s technical 
capabilities and niche market skills as well as our efficiency in project management enable us to be cost-competitive in our 
core business. 

In all dealings with clients, customers and suppliers, HSL maintains the highest standards of integrity and ensures a co-
operative and mutually beneficial business relationship.

Environment
At HSL, we are vigilant on environmental protection: From electronic document circulation to our “double-sided” 
photocopying policy and other paper-saving practices to strict control on business air travel and electricity consumption. We 
strive to minimize our carbon footprint and green house gas emissions wherever and whenever possible.

We continue to inculcate the 3R “reduce, reuse, recycle” approach among our staff both in the workplace and outside. Our 
twice yearly Green Weeks, in May and October 2015, are the major awareness raising and action taking efforts of the Group. 
Green Weeks are not only about cutting waste, but also about helping the community through the donation of usable goods 
to the less fortunate or crisis victim.

Population growth, urban expansion and industrialisation put pressure on our natural environment. HSL complies with the 
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directives on environmental preservation and goes beyond its obligations to undertake tree rescue, strictly controlled proper 
waste disposal, dust control etc. Our diesel tanks are housed in approved bunkers to ensure accidental spillages or overflows 
can be contained. Our used engine oil is also properly collected for disposal and so on.

Many of HSL’s projects proactively address environmental concerns. Kuching’s centralised sewerage system addresses the 
pollution of the city’s waterways by untreated wastewater. With the treatment plant now operational, we are seeing raw 
wastewater intake from the connected up areas processed and discharged as clean water. Over time, as more properties 
are connected up in the subsequent packages of the project, Kuching’s rivers will be made a healthier water source and 
recreational facility for future generations.

HSL also undertakes flood mitigation works, embankments, revetments, seawalls and various beautification works to protect 
and enhance our environment.

Community
At HSL, we are dedicated to making a difference in the community through deliberate philanthropy as well as staff involvement 
in community events.  

Engagement with the community occurred in numerous modes during 2015. HSL’s traditional Chinese New Year programme 
involves grants to various charities and also funding for festive gatherings organised by the city councils. HSL remains a 
strong supporter of Chinese education and cultural events.

In promoting healthy pursuits among local youth, HSL has made contributions to a number of sports teams and events. We 
have supported the Football Association of Sarawak’s development programme and also some community sports events such 
as golf championships, table tennis competitions and others.

To promote fitness, HSL sponsors staff participation in a variety of local events including the CMS Tribal Run and Spring Live 
Active Run. Staff members, led by senior management, joined over 5,000 others in the latter to promote a healthy lifestyle 
and at the same time to raise funds for the less fortunate. 

HSL offers selected undergraduate students internships which provide an opportunity to gain working experience to enhance 
their academic, career and personal development. 

Workplace
The year under review saw HSL’s Quality Management System (QMS) ensure the administration of projects and all our 
core processes and activities were carried out with accuracy, efficiency and consistency. As the International Standards 
Organisation has recently released the new 2015 series with significant modifications from the previous 2008 series, our 
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ISO/QMS team will be tasked with updating the current QMS to ensure compliance with the new series by 2017.  

Other developments include further recruitment of Safety Officers to strengthen our on-site enforcement of safe work 
practices and use of personal protective equipment. 

As mentioned in our community engagement, we encourage staff participation in public fitness events such as jog-a-thons, 
football events and etc. The company also sponsors regular badminton sessions for staff while our quarterly newsletter often 
discusses the importance of a healthy lifestyle.

From 2016, the first and third Saturdays shall be given as days off for office staff in an effort to further improve the work-life 
balance of the staff. The first Saturday of the month was declared off in 2014.

At HSL, we are very aware that it is our employees who are our most valued asset and who shape our success. As one means 
of appreciation, HSL stages an annual dinner for some 800 office and site staff to thank them for their effort throughout the 
year. We continue to give 10, 20 and even 30 years long service awards as well as incentives to staff members’ children who 
excel in government examinations. In the lead-up to the event, the management also allocates time off for staff members 
to prepare in-house performances for the evening – enabling talents beyond the office to come to the fore and enhancing 
teamwork.

During festive seasons, we hold departmental gatherings and dinners to build fellowship beyond the work setting.

Due to limited quality staff training providers in Sarawak, HSL relies considerably on mentoring, on-the-job training and in-
house training courses. At the same time, selected staff are sent to attend seminars and/or courses both locally and in Kuala 
Lumpur and beyond to continue the process of improvement in the organisation.  In order to gear up for the implementation 
of the Goods & Services Tax (GST) that took place in April 2015, staff attended seminars and in-house briefings were held to 
ensure familiarisation with new procedures. 

In line with the management’s initiative to better control, monitor and execute projects, HSL has also provided training to 
its engineers and quantity surveyors to enable them to master Primavera software, which is becoming the preferred project 
management tool in the construction industry.

HSL aims to offer rewarding career paths for employees and practices internal promotion on merit. HSL is renowned for the 
dedication of its people with a highly stable middle and senior management. The “bosses” are accessible and they promote 
a family-like atmosphere in which employment is challenging and satisfying.
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HSL’s Annual Dinner for 2015 was themed ‘Celebrate Traditions’ and featured staff performances, a best-dressed cultural attire competition, games, 
lucky draws and long service awards. Our sporting directors and general managers joined staff on stage to show off their dancing talents.

The magnificent Aquatic Centre was handed over to the Minister of Social Development YB Tan Sri William Mawan Ikom in time 
for Sarawak’s hosting of SUKMA.

The spectacular new UiTM campus in the heart of the SCORE growth node town of Mukah, central Sarawak was successfully completed 
and handed over.

HSL launched its much anticipated landmark development La Promenade on Malaysia Day 2015. This 200-acre mixed development 
comprises over 1000 luxury guarded and gated homes, a commercial centre, shopping mall and also HSL’s high rise office  headquarters.

HAPPENINGS
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS

1.	 Dato’ Haji Idris Bin Buang
	 aged 61, Malaysian, appointed 23 March 1996
 
	 Dato’ Haji Idris is the Group Chairman and an 

independent, Non-executive Director. A practising 
advocate and solicitor, he holds a LLB (Hons), 
University of Buckingham, United Kingdom (1982) and 
was admitted as Barrister of the Lincoln’s Inn and as 
Advocate and Solicitor to the High Court of Sabah and 
Sarawak in 1983 and is the proprietor of Idris-Buang 
and Associates, a legal firm in Kuching.  Dato’ Haji Idris 
was a former Senator of the Dewan Negara, Malaysia.  
Dato’ Haji Idris brings to the Board extensive experience 
on Board procedures, corporate governance regulations 
and legal perspectives. He is also a director of several 
private limited companies.

	 Dato’ Haji Idris is the Chairman of the Audit Committee 
and the Remuneration Committee.  He attended all four 
of the Board meetings held during 2015. He has no 
convictions for offences within the past 10 years.

2.	 Dato Yu Chee Hoe
	 aged 61, Malaysian, appointed 17 December 1978 

	 Dato Yu has been the Managing Director since 1980 
and is the driving force of HSL.  He leads the Company 
in strategic planning and business development; has 
a respected profile in the industry and keen business 
acumen.  He possesses an in-depth knowledge of the 
construction and engineering fields with extensive 
experience in civil and infrastructure works.  He is also 
a director of several private limited companies.

	 Dato Yu is Chairman of the Management Committee and 
Member of the Remuneration Committee.  He attended 
all four of the Board meetings held during 2015.  He has 
no convictions for offences within the past 10 years.

3.	 Lau Kiing Kang 
	 aged 51, Malaysian, appointed 27 April 1998 

	 Mr Lau is an Executive Director.  He holds a Bachelor 
of Engineering (Civil), University of New South Wales, 
Australia (1987) and is the Director of projects with 
responsibility for technical excellence. Mr Lau co-

ordinates professional project staff, project management 
and execution. He has particular experience in road and 
infrastructure projects. Mr Lau has been the Chairman of 
the Sarawak Quarry Association since its inauguration 
in 2002.  He is also a director of several private limited 
companies.

	 Mr Lau is a Member of the Management Committee and 
he attended all four of the Board meetings held during 
2015. He has no convictions for offences within the past 
10 years.

4.	 Yii Chee Sing
	 aged 47, Malaysian, appointed 2 January 1993 

	 Mr Yii is an Executive Director. He holds a Bachelor 
of Building, University of New South Wales, Australia 
(1993) and is a member of the Australian Institute of 
Quantity Surveyors (1994).  Mr Yii is involved in project 
procurement, project viability studies and property 
development projects of HSL Group as well as the 
electronic office environment. He is also a director of 
several private limited companies.

	 Mr Yii is a Member of the Management Committee 
and he attended three of the four Board meetings held 
during 2015. He has no convictions for offences within 
the past 10 years. 

5.	 Tony Yu Yuong Wee
	 age 35, Malaysian, appointed 23 May 2012

	 Mr Tony Yu is an Executive Director. He is involved in 
project execution and plans, co-ordinates and monitors 
all site operations including land based machinery, 
marine fleet-operation, labour deployment and quality 
control. Mr Yu holds a Bachelor degree in Business 
Administration majoring in marketing from Edith Cowan 
University, Western Australia. He has over 10 years’ 
experience in the construction industry covering heavy 
machinery operation to heavy machinery mechanics 
and marine engineering. He is also a director of several 
private limited companies.

	 Mr Yu is a Member of the Management Committee and 
he attended all four of the Board meetings held during 
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2015.  He has no convictions for offences within the 
past 10 years. 

6.	 Lau Kiing Yiing
	 aged 60, Malaysian, appointed 23 March 1996

	 Mr Lau is a Non-executive Director.  He holds a Bachelor 
of Commerce, University of Canterbury, New Zealand 
(1980), has been a Chartered Accountant of the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants of New Zealand since 1985 
and a Chartered Accountant with the Malaysian Institute 
of Accountants since 1987.  He is a fellow member of 
the Malaysian Institute of Taxation and is a partner in 
the accounting firm Crowe Horwath. Mr Lau is well-
versed in corporate reporting, auditing, taxation and 
statutory matters. Hence he contributes this in-depth 
corporate accounting knowledge to the Board. Mr Lau is 
an Independent Non-executive Director of TAS Offshore 
Berhad, a company listed on the Main Market of Bursa 
Malaysia. He is also a director of several private limited 
companies.

	 Mr Lau is a Member of the Audit Committee and 
Nomination Committee. He attended all four of the 
Board meetings held during 2015. He has no convictions 
for offences within the past 10 years.

7.	 Dato’ Mohd. Nadzir Bin Mahmud
	 aged 74, Malaysian, appointed 20 November 2000

	 Dato’ Mohd. Nadzir Bin Mahmud is a Non-executive 
Director.  A Barrister-at-Law from Inner Temple, London; 
he was called to the English Bar in 1973 and admitted 
and enrolled as an Advocate and Solicitor to the High 
Court Malaya in 1974. Dato’ Nadzir completed his post-
graduate studies in Business Administration at Harvard 
University Graduate School of Business Administration 
USA (1981).  He had previously served in various senior 
management positions as Executive Director in both 
local and international companies.  As well as offering 
legal perspectives, Dato’ Nadzir is a highly experienced 
corporate director, familiar with corporate governance 
regulations, audit and risk management assessment and 
company secretarial matters.

	 Dato’ Mohd. Nadzir Bin Mahmud is a Member of 
the Remuneration Committee and attended all four 
of the Board meetings held during 2015.  He has no 
convictions for offences within the past 10 years.

8.	 Dr Chou Chii Ming
	 aged 77, Malaysian, appointed 29 November 2001

	 Dr Chou is an independent, Non-executive Director.  
He holds a Doctor of Letters and a post Doctoral Degree 
from the Isles Internationae Universite Europa, Certified 
Doctor of Business Administration (CDBA) of the Oxford 
Association of Management United Kingdom, is an 
associate member of the Association of International 
Accountants, London. He began his public service 
career in the field of education in 1958, then with 
Kuching Port Authority from 1966, rising to the post of 
General Manager (1994-1999).  Currently he is active in 
community works holding numerous prestigious posts. 
He also brings to the Board his extensive background in 
management, administration, accounting and company 
image issues. As a community leader, he is in touch with 
local issues and keeps abreast of relevant government 
policies and procedures.

	 Dr Chou is the Chairman of the Nomination Committee 
and a Member of the Audit Committee. The Board 
has nominated him as the Senior Independent Non-
executive Director to whom concerns may be conveyed.  
Dr Chou attended all four of the Board meetings during 
2015. He has no convictions for offences within the past 
10 years.

9.	 Tuan Hj Abang Kashim Bin Abang Morshidi
	 aged 67, Malaysian, appointed 3 January 2008

	 Tuan Hj Abang Kashim Bin Abang Morshidi is 
an independent, Non-executive Director. He is a 
professional forester graduated from the University of 
Aberdeen with a Bachelor of Science in Forestry in 
1972, and a Master of Philosophy in Natural Resources 
Management from Edinburgh University in 1979.  He 
has served the Government of Sarawak for 32 years 
in different capacities namely Deputy Director –
Department of Forestry, General Manager – Sarawak 
Timber Industry Development Corporation, Permanent 
Secretary – Ministry of Tourism and the Chief Executive 
Officer – Sarawak Tourism Board.  He has attended the 
Senior Fellows Management Course at John F. Kennedy 
School of Government, Harvard University in 1995.  He 
is also a member of Malaysian Institute of Management 
and Institute of Rimbawan Malaysia. Tuan Hj Abang 
Kashim brings to the Board extensive understanding of 
public sector administration and management, as well as 
policies and procedures. His professional qualifications 
allow him to contribute on environmental issues and he 
is also well-versed on corporate governance regulations.

	 Tuan Hj Abang Kashim Bin Abang Morshidi is a Member 
of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee 
and attended all four of the Board meetings held during 
2015.  He has no convictions for offences within the 
past 10 years.

 
	 Family relationship
	 Dato Yu Chee Hoe and Yii Chee Sing are brothers and 

Tony Yu Yuong Wee is their nephew.  Lau Kiing Yiing 
and Lau Kiing Kang, who are brothers, are the brother-
in-laws to the Yu Brothers.  Dato Yu Chee Hoe and Yii 
Chee Sing are substantial shareholders of HSL by virtue 
of their substantial interest in Hock Seng Lee Enterprise 
Sdn Bhd.

	 Other than the above, none of the other directors have 
any family relationship with any of the directors and/or 
substantial shareholders of the Company.

	 Conflict of interest
	 Dato Yu Chee Hoe, Lau Kiing Kang, Yii Chee Sing and 

Lau Kiing Yiing, each have interests in certain private 
companies which are involved in property development 
and construction, but these are not in direct conflict 
with the business of HSL. Dato’ Idris Buang, Dato’ 
Mohd Nadzir Mahmud, Dr Chou Chii Ming, Tuan Hj 
Abang Kashim Bin Abang Morshidi and Tony Yu Yuong 
Wee have no conflict of interest with HSL.

	 Except for recurrent related party transactions of a 
revenue nature which are necessary for day to day 
operations of the HSL Group and for which Dato Yu 
Chee Hoe, Lau Kiing Kang, Yii Chee Sing and Lau Kiing 
Yiing are deemed to have interests as disclosed on page 
68 of the Annual Report, there are no other business 
arrangements with the Group in which the directors 
have interests. 
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STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board of Directors (“the Board”) of Hock Seng Lee Berhad (“HSL”) is firmly committed to good corporate governance and 
recognises that accountability and transparency at every level of the organisation is essential in safeguarding assets, enhancing 
shareholder value and maintaining strong financial performance.

The Board is pleased to provide this statement which outlines the manner in which HSL Group has applied the principals of the 
Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance 2012 (“the Code”).

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Principal Responsibilities: The Board has formalised a Board Charter (available on HSL website) which sets out the board’s 
strategic intent. It outlines the Board’s roles and responsibilities, composition and operation.  The Board Charter serves as a 
source of reference and primary induction literature, providing insights to prospective and present Board members as well as 
senior management.  The Board Charter will be periodically reviewed and updated.  The Board assumes full responsibility 
for the success of the Group by taking stewardship responsibilities to lead the Group, focusing on a strategic plan, overall 
management and business performance, management of principal risks and controls, the succession plan and human resources 
management, investor relations and corporate communications, accountability and audit.

•	 Strategic Plan: The Board establishes the vision for the Group and sets overall strategies and objectives. The Board is 
dedicated to a business model that balances growth and profitability with a positive, ongoing, meaningful contribution to 
our community. The Group has formulated its strategy entrenching sustainability considerations within all four key areas 
where its impact on society is felt; the Marketplace, the Workplace, the Community and the Environment. The Statement 
on Corporate Sustainability is available for reference on the Company’s website.

	 The Board reviews and approves the annual business plan which covers the scope of business activities; government 
initiatives and policies; industry overview and potential opportunities; risk management; the business model and revenue 
generators; human resources plan; capital expenditure; finance plan; critical success factors; profit estimates and targets for 
the year.  The Board evaluates business performance and target achievements quarterly.

 
•	 Overall Management: To facilitate effective management, certain functions have been delegated to various Board 

Committees in accordance with their respective terms of reference, namely the Management Committee, the Audit 
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee.  The minutes of the Board Committee meetings 
are presented to the Board for information and the chairman of the relevant Board Committees will report on the key issues 
deliberated upon and decided at each Board meeting.  The key matters reserved specifically for the decision of the Board 
include the approval of the business plan and annual estimates and targets, substantial transactions that are not of a revenue 
nature in the ordinary course of business, expenditure and contracts above a certain limit, major investment and financial 
decisions including key policies and procedures and the chart of authority limit for transactions, all banking facilities and 
cheque signatories, quarterly reports and the annual financial statements.  The chart of authority limit is reviewed when 
required.

	 The Managing Director, Dato Yu Chee Hoe is the chairman of the Management Committee which comprises all Executive 
Directors.  The Management Committee is primarily responsible for developing the Group’s strategy and business plan 
including annual estimates for the approval of the Board; overseeing the implementation of the approved strategy and 
business plan; developing a risk management framework and undertaking an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and 
managing the significant financial risks faced by the Group; and managing the operational activities and routine business 
matters and entering into transactions up to an approved limit.  Each quarter, the Management Committee approves the 
quarterly reports and financial statements before presenting them to the Audit Committee and the Board, together with the 
financial performance evaluation, for review and approval.

•	 Risks Management and Internal Control System: The Managing Director, with the support of the risk managers who are 
various department heads, reviews the risks and exposures and the internal controls that are in place to mitigate such risks, 
at least annually.  In the current economic climate, conscientious monitoring of market indicators, the industry climate and 
financial management issues are vital. Further details on risk management are set out in the Statement on Risk Management 
and Internal Control on page 22 of this Annual Report.

•	 Succession Planning and Human Resources Management: The Nomination Committee comprises three Non-executive 
Directors of whom two are independent. It is led by Dr Chou Chii Ming, the Senior Independent Director identified by 
the Board. The Nomination Committee is responsible, among others, for recommending new director nominees to the 
Board and Board Committees, taking into consideration the time commitment of the potential candidate and diversity in 
gender, ethnicity and age. The Nomination Committee reviews the performances of the Directors individually and as a 
Board using the principles employed in the Balanced Scorecard methodology. The Nomination Committee also reviews 
the required skills and core competencies of Non-executive Directors as well as the independence of the Independent 
Directors annually. Any new nominations received will be reviewed and put to the Board, which makes all decisions on 
such appointments.
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	 The Remuneration Committee comprises three directors of whom two are Non-executive Directors. It is led by Dato’ 
Idris Bin Buang.  The Remuneration Committee reviews the remuneration of the Directors annually and advises the Board 
accordingly. The determination of the remuneration packages of directors is approved by the full Board and individual 
Directors are required to abstain from deliberating and voting on their own remuneration.  The fees for Non-executive 
Directors are recommended by the Board and approved by the shareholders of the Company at its AGM.

	 The Managing Director together with the Executive Directors ensures management of the highest standard in appointing, 
training, assessing and providing for succession.  The Group maintains a strong organisation structure with a dynamic 
senior management team.  The Group values its employees and strives to foster a caring atmosphere that nurtures career 
development and balances high expectations for productivity with respect and understanding for each individual.

•	 Shareholder/Investor Relations and Corporate Communication: The Board is committed to provide timely, complete, and 
accurate disclosure of material information pertaining to the Group’s performance and operations and to ensuring equal 
access to such material information, avoiding individual or selective disclosure.  The Board has formalized the Corporate 
Disclosure Policy to outline the Group’s approach toward the formulation, determination and dissemination of material 
information and the internal procedural guidelines to facilitate consistent disclosure practices across the Group.  

	 The Board places great importance in ensuring the highest standards of transparency and accountability in the disclosure 
of information to shareholders, potential investors and the public. The Board endeavours to provide shareholders and 
the public with a balanced assessment of the Group’s performance, position and prospects on a quarterly basis via the 
quarterly reports and press releases and to provide timely and adequate disclosure of information on matters of material 
impact to the public. The Board values the opportunity to provide an annual report to shareholders and to meet them 
annually.

	 The senior management of the Company frequently meets with investors, analysts and institutional shareholders to discuss 
the Group’s strategies, performance, general market conditions relevant to the business of the Group and new developments 
as well as explaining the Group’s business and financial objectives.  The Group also participated in road shows, analyst 
briefings and investor conferences during the year. 

	 The Board recognises that the Annual General Meeting (AGM) provides an important opportunity to meet shareholders and 
it welcomes shareholders to ask questions and share a dialogue on the performance of the Group.  Where a substantive 
resolution is put forth, a poll is encouraged.  In 2015, all Directors attended the AGM.

	 The Group maintains a corporate web-site where shareholders and the general public can access the latest information of 
the Group including annual reports, quarterly reports and other corporate announcements made to Bursa Malaysia. 

	 The Company has implemented e-dividends to promote greater efficiency of the dividend payment system.  All shareholders 
who have not registered for e-dividend are strongly encouraged to do so through the stock brokers’ offices where the CDS 
accounts of the shareholders are maintained.

Board Balance: The Board currently has nine members, four Executive Directors and five Non-executive Directors of whom 
three ie. one-third, are Independent Directors.  The profile of each Director is presented on pages 12 to 13. 

The Chairman, Dato’ Idris Bin Buang who is an Independent Non-executive Director leads the Board and is responsible for its 
efficient functioning. The Managing Director, Dato Yu Chee Hoe, holds the executive responsibilities for the Group’s business 
and manages the Group in accordance with the strategies and policies approved by the Board.  The separation of the role of the 
Chairman and the Managing Director ensures a balance of power and authority.

Dato Yu Chee Hoe, who has extensive experience in the construction industry and renowned business acumen, leads the 
Executive Directors in taking on the primary responsibility to manage the Group’s business and resources, making and 
implementing operational business decisions. The Executive Directors are experienced and hands-on and have intimate 
knowledge of the business of the Group.  

The Non-executive Directors have taken on various roles in the Board Committees and contribute significantly, especially in 
the enhancement of the corporate governance and controls of the Group. They are individuals of high calibre, sound reputation 
and standing and bring independent judgment to the Board’s decision making. As well as being well qualified in their respective 
fields, they bring extensive corporate and professional work experience to the Board. Together with the hands-on, in-depth 
industry knowledge and vast experience of the executive directors, there is a valuable collaboration of expertise and experience, 
ie business, technical, legal and financial. This range of inputs and views enables the Board to deliberate on issues from varied 
perspectives and so helps to ensure carefully considered, prudent decision-making at the helm of the Group.
	
There are three Independent Directors and then there are representatives of the substantial shareholder, Hock Seng Lee Enterprise 
Sdn Bhd, while Dato’ Mohd. Nadzir Mahmud represents another substantial shareholder.  The Nomination Committee reviews 
the performance of the directors annually and is of the view that the present board is effective and balanced with sufficient 
members and the right mix of skills and experience appropriate for informed and efficient decision making.  
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In line with the Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance 2012, the Nomination Committee has assessed the independence 
of all independent directors including both Dato’ Haji Idris Buang and Dr Chou Chii Ming who have served as Independent 
Directors of the Company for more than nine years.  The Board concurred with the recommendation of the Nomination 
Committee that both Dato’ Haji Idris Buang and Dr Chou Chii Ming can continue to bring independent and objective judgments 
to board deliberations and recommended them to continue to act as Independent Directors of the Company.  The Board 
shall seek shareholders’ approval to that effect at the coming AGM and the details justification to retain them as Independent 
Directors are included in the Notes to the Notice of AGM.

Meetings: The attendance details of the directors at Board and Board Committee meetings are as follows:

Board of
Directors

Management
Committee

Audit
Committee

Remuneration
Committee

Nomination
Committee

No. of meetings held 4 12 4 1 1

Attendance at Board and Board Committee Meetings

Executive Directors
Dato Yu Chee Hoe
Lau Kiing Kang
Yii Chee Sing
Tony Yu Yuong Wee

Non-executive Directors
Dato’ Mohd. Nadzir Bin Mahmud
Lau Kiing Yiing

Independent Directors
Dato’ Idris Bin Buang
Dr Chou Chii Ming
Tuan Hj Abg Kashim Bin Abg Morshidi

4/4
4/4
3/4
4/4

4/4
4/4

4/4*
4/4
4/4

12/12*
12/12
11/12
12/12

n/a
n/a

n/a
n/a
n/a

n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a

n/a
3/4

4/4*
4/4
4/4

1/1
n/a
n/a
n/a

1/1
n/a

1/1*
n/a
n/a

n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a

n/a
1/1

n/a
1/1*
1/1

* chairman of the Board and respective Board committees

Supply of Information: The Directors have access to all information within the Group, whether in the capacity as a full Board, 
Board Committee or in their individual capacity, to enable them to discharge their duties. All directors are provided with timely 
notices with agenda and appropriate information prior to each meeting.  This includes appropriate Board papers that identify and 
fairly address the affairs of the Group and the key issues of the respective meeting.  Minutes on deliberations and conclusions on 
issues brought up are taken for all meetings of the Board and its committees and they are circulated to all directors.

The Board and its Board Committees have access to the senior management and to the Company Secretary who attend all Board 
and Board Committee meetings.  The company secretary ensures that all Board procedures, applicable rules and regulations are 
complied with.  When necessary, the Board obtains independent professional advice to discharge its duties effectively.

Training and Development: All Directors have completed the mandatory accreditation programme and they are encouraged to 
keep abreast of trends through general economic, regulatory, industry and technical development seminars.
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During the year, the Directors have attended various training programmes to enhance their knowledge and expertise and they 
are briefed by the management on their respective areas and updates on new regulations, changes in laws and accounting 
standards.  Conferences, seminars and training programmes attended by the Directors are as follows: 

Directors Conferences/Seminars/ Training Programme attended

Dato’ Haji Idris Bin Buang -	 Pengurusan Perolehan + Tender Kerajaan
-	 Capital Market Director Programme : Module 3 – Risk Oversight 
	 and Compliance-Action Plan for Board of Directors

Dato Yu Chee Hoe -	 Briefing on Goods and Services Tax

Lau Kiing Kang -	 Seminar on Goods and Services Tax

Yii Chee Sing -	 Briefing on Goods and Services Tax

Tony Yu Yuong Wee -	 Briefing on Goods and Services Tax
-	 Construction Payment Disputes under CIPAA 

Lau Kiing Yiing -	 Risk Management & Internal Control: Workshop for Audit
	 Committee Members
-	 National Tax Seminar 2015
-	 Seminar Percukaian Kebangsaan 2015

Dr Chou Chii Ming -	 50 Malaysian Questions Answered

Dato’ Mohd. Nadzir Bin Mahmud -	 Dato’ Mohd. Nadzir Bin Mahmud did not attend any formal
	 seminar during the year but kept himself updated through research
	 and reading

Tuan Hj Abang Kashim Bin Abang Morshidi -	 50 Malaysian Questions Answered
	
Re-election and Re-appointment of Directors: A director (including the Managing Director) appointed by the Board must 
submit himself or herself for re-election at the next AGM following his or her appointment and at least every three years 
thereafter in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association.  At least one-third of the Directors are required to retire 
by rotation each year. Any director over seventy (70) years of age is required to submit himself for re-appointment annually in 
accordance with section 129 of the Companies Act, 1965.

At the forthcoming AGM, three directors, namely Mr Yii Chee Sing, Mr Lau Kiing Kang and Tuan Haji Abang Kashim Bin Abang 
Morshidi will retire by rotation and are seeking re-election.  Dr Chou Chii Ming and Dato’ Mohd. Nadzir Bin Mahmud will 
retire pursuant to section 129 of the Companies Act, 1965 and are seeking re-appointment to the Board.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Level and Make up of Remuneration: The remuneration package of each individual Executive Director is structured to reflect 
his or her experience, corporate and individual performance and scope of responsibilities.  The bonuses for Executive Directors 
are linked to their performances, achievements on group financial targets and the net earnings growth of the Group.  The 
Executive Directors are not paid any directors’ fees. The remuneration of Non-excutive Directors are based on their respective 
expertise and level of responsibility.

At the last AGM, the shareholders approved the payment of Directors’ fees of up to RM194,700.00 for the year 2015 and the 
fees are distributed to Non-executive Directors.
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Disclosure: The details of remuneration of the Directors for the financial year ended 31 December 2015 are as follows:-

Fees          
RM’000

Salaries      
RM’000

Bonuses      
RM’000

Others 
RM’000

Total
Remuneration 

RM’000

Executive Directors
Non-executive Directors

-
195

2,132
-

711
-

603
-

3,446
195

Total 195 2,132 711 603 3,641

The number of Directors whose total annual remuneration falls within the following bands is as follows:-

Executive Directors Non-executive Directors

Below RM50,000 - 4

RM50,001 to RM100,000 - 1

RM500,001 to RM550,000 1 -

RM600,001 to RM650,000 1 -

RM700,001 to RM750,000 1 -

RM1,500,001 to RM1,550,000 1 -

The Board has considered the disclosure of the details of the remuneration of each Director and is of the view that the transparency 
and accountability aspects of corporate governance in relation to Directors’ remuneration are appropriately served by the above 
disclosure of analysis by applicable bands of RM50,000, a disclosure required under the Main Market Listing Requirements of 
Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.
 

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting: In presenting the annual audited financial statements and the quarterly reports to shareholders, the Board 
aims to present a balanced and understandable assessment of the Group’s financial position and prospects and ensures that the 
financial results are released to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad within the required timeframe.

Statement on Directors’ Responsibility for Preparing the Annual Audited Financial Statements: The directors are responsible 
for ensuring that the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 
the end of the accounting period and of the results of their operations and of their cash flows for the year ending on that date.  

The Directors are responsible for taking reasonable steps to ensure the maintenance of proper accounting and other records 
and internal controls, the application of appropriate accounting policies and the safeguarding of the assets of the Group.  The 
Directors are of the opinion that in preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015, the Company has 
adopted appropriate accounting policies in accordance with the applicable financial reporting standard in Malaysia and the 
provision of the Companies Act, 1965 and that these are applied consistently and are supported by reasonable and prudent 
judgments and estimates.  

Audit Committee: The Audit Committee assists the Board in the effective discharge of its responsibilities relating to financial 
reporting, corporate governance and corporate control.  The composition of the Audit Committee meets the Main Market Listing 
Requirements whereby all members of the Audit Committee are Non-executive Directors, the majority of whom are Independent 
Directors and one member is a qualified accountant. The report of the Audit Committee is set out on pages 19 to 21.

External Auditors: The Audit Committee recommends to the Board the appointment of the external auditors and their 
remuneration.  The Board has maintained a transparent, objective and professional relationship with the external auditors. 

The Audit Committee reviews with the external auditors, their audit plan and the results of the audit including any 
recommendations arising. The report of the external auditors to members is set out on page 64.

Codes and Policies
The Code of Ethics and Conduct which sets out the principles and corporate ethics of the Group which is periodically reviewed 
and updated is published on HSL’s corporate website.

This statement is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors on 25 February 2016.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

The Audit Committee carried out its duties and responsibilities in accordance with its terms of reference during the year with the 
main objective of assisting the Board of Directors in the effective discharge of its responsibilities relating to financial reporting, 
corporate governance and corporate control.

COMPOSITION 
The Audit Committee shall comprise no fewer than three Non-executive Directors, the majority of whom must be Independent 
Directors with at least one member who is a member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants or a member who fulfils the 
requirements of the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. All four members of the Audit 
Committee are Non-executive Directors, of whom three are Independent Non-executive Directors. Mr Lau Kiing Yiing is a 
member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants. The chairman of the Audit Committee, Dato’ Haji Idris Bin Buang is an 
Independent Director elected by the members of the Audit Committee. The members of the Audit Committee and the chairman of 
the Audit Committee are re-appointed annually by the Board of Directors and the members of the Audit Committee respectively.  
The present members of the Audit Committee are:-

Chairman Dato’ Haji Idris Bin Buang	 Independent, Non-executive Director

Member Mr Lau Kiing Yiing (MIA 3709) Non-executive Director

Member Dr Chou Chii Ming Independent, Non-executive Director

Member Tuan Hj Abang Kashim Bin Abang Morshidi Independent, Non-executive Director

AUTHORITY
The Audit Committee shall, wherever necessary and reasonable for the performance of its duties and in accordance with a 
procedure to be determined by the Board of Directors:-
i	 have authority to investigate any matter within its terms of reference;
ii	 have the resources which are required to perform its duties;
iii	 have full and unrestricted access to any information pertaining to the Company and the Group;
iv	 have direct communication channels with both the internal and external auditors;
v	 be able to obtain independent professional or other advice; and
vi	 be able to convene meetings with the external auditors, internal auditors or both, excluding the attendance of other 

directors and employees of the Company, whenever deemed necessary.

DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES
The duties and responsibilities of the Audit Committee shall be:

Financial Reporting
i	 To review the quarterly results and the annual audited financial statements, prior to the approval by the Board of 

Directors, focusing particularly on:-
•	 any changes in or implementation of major accounting policies and practices;
•	 significant adjustments arising from the audit;
•	 significant and unusual events;
•	 the going concern assumption; and
•	 compliance with accounting standards and other legal requirements.

Internal Control and Risk Management
ii	 To review the adequacy and effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems of the Group;

Internal and External Audit
iii	 To review the adequacy of the scope, functions, competency and resources of the internal audit function and ensure it 

has the necessary authority to carry out its work;

iv	 To review the effectiveness and quality of the control environment, the management information and the internal control 
systems of the Company and the Group including the scope of the internal audit plan, processes and performance, the 
results of the internal audit, processes or investigations undertaken and whether or not appropriate action is taken on the 
recommendations of the internal audit;

v	 To review any appraisal or assessment of the performance of members of the internal audit function and the appointment 
or termination of senior staff member;

vi	 To review with the external auditor, their audit plan including the nature and scope of audit, their evaluation of the 
system of internal controls including their audit findings / external auditor’s management letters and actions taken by 
management to rectify any matter noted and the audit reports;
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vii	 To ensure that the assistance and cooperation given by the employees of the Company and the Group to the internal and 
external auditors is at a level which enables them to complete their work economically, efficiently and effectively;

viii	 To recommend to the Board of Directors the appointment and remuneration of the external auditors and any questions 
of resignation or dismissal of the external auditors;

Related Party Transactions
ix	 To review any related party transactions that may arise within the Company and the Group; and

Other Functions
x	 To perform any other functions as may be agreed by the Board of Directors.

MEETINGS AND REPORTING
The Audit Committee met four times during the year 2015.  The attendance details of the members at these meetings are as 
follows:-

No. of meetings attended

Chairman Dato’ Haji Idris Bin Buang 4/4

Member Mr Lau Kiing Yiing (MIA 3709) 3/4

Member Dr Chou Chii Ming 4/4

Member Tuan Hj Abang Kashim Bin Abang Morshidi 4/4
	
The internal audit reports together with the findings and recommendations were presented and discussed at all four of the 
meetings. Other directors and relevant members of senior management were invited to attend the Audit Committee meetings, 
where appropriate, to discuss the financial performance, the audit findings and other financial reporting issues. The Audit 
Committee also met with the external auditors twice in 2015 without the presence of any executive board members and 
management to discuss the state of affairs of the system of internal controls and control environment of the Group and to make 
enquiries in relation to management’s cooperation in the audit process and financial reporting. 

The quorum for each meeting is two members and the majority of the members present must be Independent Directors and the 
Company Secretary act as the secretary of the Audit Committee. Minutes of all Audit Committee meetings were circulated to all 
members of the Board of Directors and the chairman of the Audit Committee reports on key issues deliberated and decided at 
each meeting to the Board of Directors.

TRAINING
During the year, the chairman and members of the Audit Committee have attended the following conferences and seminars:-

Members Conferences/Seminars attended

Dato’ Haji Idris Bin Buang -	 Pengurusan Perolehan + Tender Kerajaan 
-	 Capital Market Director Programme : Module 3 – Risk Oversight 
	 and Compliance-Action Plan for Board of Directors

Lau Kiing Yiing -	 Risk Management & Internal Control: Workshop for 
	 Audit Committee Members
-	 National Tax Seminar 2015
-	 Seminar Percukaian Kebangsaan 2015

Dr Chou Chii Ming -	 50 Malaysian Questions Answered

Tuan Hj Abang Kashim Bin Abang Morshidi -	 50 Malaysian Questions Answered
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SUMMARY OF ACTIVITIES 
During the year, the main activities undertaken by the Audit Committee were as follows:- 
i	 review and approval of the Quarterly Reports and year end Financial Statements to ensure compliance with generally 

accepted accounting principles and Financial Reporting Standards, before recommending the same for Board’s approval;
ii	 review the performance of the Group and the quarterly results against financial estimates approved by the Board;
iii	 review of the effectiveness of the internal audit process and the internal audit reports incorporating the risk assessment, 

internal controls review and audit procedures, findings, internal audit recommendation and the response from the 
management;

iv	 meeting with the external auditors to review the audit plan, accounting policies adopted by the Group well as their audit 
findings and audit report and to discuss the state of affairs of the system of internal controls and control environment of 
the Group;

v	 review of the recurrent related party transactions of a revenue or trading nature which are necessary for the day to day 
operations of the Group on a quarterly basis to ensure that all transactions are covered under the shareholders’ mandate 
and are on normal commercial terms that are not more favourable to the related parties than those generally available to 
the public; 

vi	 review of the Risk Management Report and assessments; 
vii	 review of the Circular to Shareholders in relation to the Shareholder Mandate for recurring related party transactions 

before recommending it for Board of Directors’ approval; and
viii	 review of the share buy-back activities of the Company and report the same to the Board of Directors.

The Audit Committee has recommended the re-appointment of KPMG as the external auditors for the ensuing year.

INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION
The Audit Committee obtains adequate assurance that the system of internal controls and risk management practices are 
appropriate to the Group’s operation, through the review and audit conducted by the Internal Audit.  The Internal Audit function 
of the Group is performed in house and the total cost incurred in relation to the Internal Audit function for year 2015 amounted 
to about RM190,000.00.

The Internal Audit adopts a risk base approach when establishing its audit plan and strategy. It provides the Audit Committee with 
independent and objective reports on the state of internal controls and risk management, the extent of compliance with policies 
and procedures and its recommendation thereof.  During the year, the internal audit continued with the ongoing review on the 
system of internal control and risk management to constantly strengthen the state of internal control of the Group.  The major 
assignments carried out during the year included the audit on property, plant and equipment management, recurrent related 
party transactions, review of controls over general ledgers and journal entries management, Goods & Services Tax planning 
and implementation plan, the Group’s risk management and the review of quarterly report prepared by management before 
submission to the Audit Committee. In undertaking each audit assignment, the internal auditors reviewed the risk management 
procedures with emphasis on major risk areas, performed relevant compliance and substantive audit procedures and reported 
the findings, recommendations and the response from the management to the Audit Committee. The internal auditors have, 
where necessary followed up on the implementation and satisfactory dispositions of all audit findings and recommendations 
on all previous audits.
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STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

RESPONSIBILITY
The Board of Directors of Hock Seng Lee Berhad recognises the importance of sound internal controls and risk management 
practices to good corporate governance. The Board affirms its overall responsibility to maintain a sound system of internal 
controls and risk management including the review for adequacy and integrity of these systems so as to safeguard shareholders’ 
investment. In considering the system, the Board noted that such system of internal controls is designed to manage rather 
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives. Accordingly, the internal control systems can only provide 
reasonable but not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.   

RISK MANAGEMENT 
The Risk Management Framework of the Group, which is embedded in the Company’s management systems, provides a 
structured approach in identifying, evaluating and managing the key risks faced by the Group. During the year, the Group has 
reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and internal control system and updated the risk assessment 
on the Group’s operations.  This involved reviewing and updating the key risk exposures of the Group and re-assessing the risks 
identified, the strength of internal controls and/or action plans that mitigate and manage the primary risks and the residual risks. 
This interactive process enables continual improvement in decision making, minimises losses and maximises opportunities.  The 
risk assessment is subjected to periodic review and updates. 

KEY PROCESSES OF INTERNAL CONTROLS 
The key processes of internal controls of the Group can be summarised as follows:-

Strategic Business Planning and Budgeting Process: The Board approves the Group’s Annual Business Plan which includes 
an assessment of the overall business environment affecting the Group’s operations, major risks and opportunities as well as 
financial estimates for the year, against which the Group’s performance is monitored on an ongoing basis.

Financial Reporting: The Audit Committee reviews and approves the Quarterly reports and annual financial statements before 
recommending to the Board for approval.  Performance evaluation, including the comparison of actual results against estimates, 
is presented to the Board. The Board approves the quarterly reports and the annual financial statements before announcement 
to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.  

Authorisation Procedures: The Group has established an organisational structure with defined lines of accountability and 
delegated authority. All transactions are approved in accordance with delegated authorities in the Chart of Financial Authority 
Limit approved by the Board. 

Operational Risks: The risks inherent in the construction activities are mainly related to: market conditions; escalating/volatile 
material costs; tendering; execution of construction work and completion of projects within the contract period.  The objective 
of the Group is to identify, evaluate, control and minimise the risks.  The Executive Directors and senior professional staff apply 
their experience and knowledge to all aspects of contract tendering, proposals, contracting and project execution.  Construction 
schedules, costs of projects and quality of works are controlled through monthly progress reports to the senior management.  
Selective and careful project procurement ensures that the relevant know-how including any specialised plant and machinery 
and suitably trained personnel are available within the Group for the procurement and the eventual performance of the projects.  
The Executive Directors visit the sites of on-going projects regularly.  Where necessary, professional consultants may be engaged 
to advise on specialised fields.  For property development, project feasibility studies are carried out before the Group embarks 
on any project.  

Internal Review and Audit: The Group monitors compliance with its internal controls through internal review, which includes 
internal checking and approval procedures and management review. The system of internal controls is continually reviewed and 
updated to reflect changing risks or changes in the operating environment.  Apart from internal review on the Group’s policies 
and procedures, the internal auditor conducts periodic internal audits to monitor and ensure compliance with procedures and 
evaluates the effectiveness of the system of internal controls within the Group.  The results of such reviews are reported to the 
Audit Committee on a quarterly basis, which provides reasonable independent assurance on the effectiveness of the Group’s 
system of internal controls.  The Audit Committee considers the reports from the internal audit and management and presents 
their conclusions to the Board.  There were no major internal control weaknesses that required disclosure in the Annual Report.  

BOARD’S CONCLUSION
The Board of Directors is of the view that the Group’s overall risk management and internal control system is operating 
adequately and effectively, in all material aspects to ensure that the level of risk to which the Group is exposed has been 
managed appropriately and has received the same assurance from the Managing Director and General Manager Finance of the 
Company.  The Board confirms that there is an on-going process in identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks 
faced by the Group throughout 2015 and up to the date of approval of this statement.

This statement is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors dated 25 February 2016.

REVIEW OF THE STATEMENT BY EXTERNAL AUDITORS
The external auditor has reviewed this statement on Risk Management and Internal Control.  The review was performed in 
accordance with Recommended Practice Guide (“RPG”) 5 (Revised) issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants.  RPG 5 
(Revised) does not require the external auditor to form an opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management 
and internal control systems of the Group.
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Directors' report for the year ended 31 December 2015

The Directors have pleasure in submitting their report and the audited financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2015.

Principal activities
The Company is principally engaged in marine engineering and civil engineering as well as a construction contractor whilst the 
principal activities of the subsidiaries are as stated in Note 5 to the financial statements. There has been no significant change in the 
nature of these activities during the financial year.

Results		  Group	 Company
			   RM	 RM

Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company	 76,197,995	 68,793,160
			   ===========	 ===========

Reserves and provisions
There were no material transfers to or from reserves and provisions during the financial year under review.

Dividends
Since the end of the previous financial year, the Company paid:

(a)	 a final tax exempt dividend of 8% per ordinary share of RM0.20 totalling RM8,792,268 in respect of the year ended 31 December 
2014 on 23 June 2015; and

(b)	 an interim tax exempt dividend of 5% per ordinary share of RM0.20 each totalling RM5,495,172 in respect of the year ended 31 
December 2015 on 8 October 2015.

The Directors are proposing a final tax exempt dividend of 7% per ordinary share of RM0.20 each totalling RM7,693,241 in respect of 
the year ended 31 December 2015, to be paid once approved by shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Directors of the Company
Directors who served since the date of the last report are:

Dato’ Haji Idris Bin Haji Buang
Dato Yu Chee Hoe
Lau Kiing Kang
Yii Chee Sing
Lau Kiing Yiing
Dato’ Mohd Nadzir Bin Mahmud
Dr. Chew Kheng Min @ Chou Chii Ming
Tuan Haji Abang Kashim Bin Abang Morshidi 
Tony Yu Yuong Wee 

Directors’ interests in shares
The interests of the Directors (including the interests of the spouses or children of the Directors who themselves are not Directors of 
the Company), in the shares of the Company and of its related corporations as recorded in the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings are 
as follows:

		 Number of ordinary shares of RM1.00 each
	 At			   At
	 1.1.2015	 Bought	 Sold	 31.12.2015
Interest in the holding company, 
	 Hock Seng Lee Enterprise Sendirian Berhad 

Direct interest 
	 Dato Yu Chee Hoe	 5,548,234	 -	 -	 5,548,234
	 Yii Chee Sing	 2,774,117	 -	 -	 2,774,117
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Directors’ interests in shares (continued)

		 Number of ordinary shares of RM0.20 each
	 At			   At
	 1.1.2015	 Bought	 Sold	 31.12.2015

Interest in the Company 

Dato Yu Chee Hoe:
    Direct interest ^	 1,367,697	 -	 -	 1,367,697
	 Deemed interest	 321,267,207	 -	 -	 321,267,207
	
Yii Chee Sing:
	 Direct interest *	 694,942	 -	 -	 694,942
	 Deemed interest	 321,267,207	 -	 -	 321,267,207

Lau Kiing Kang:
	 Direct interest # 	 1,112,269	 -	 -	 1,112,269	
	 Deemed interest	 399,513	 -	 -	 399,513

Lau Kiing Yiing:
	 Direct interest	 287,150	 -	 -	 287,150
	 Deemed interest	 396,160	 -	 -	 396,160

Dr. Chew Kheng Min @ Chou Chii Ming:
	 Direct interest	 124,848	 -	 -	 124,848

^	 427,740 shares held through DB (Malaysia) Nominee (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.
* 	 412,994 shares held through Kenanga Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.
#	 24,969 shares held through CIMSEC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.

The other Directors holding office at 31 December 2015 had not dealt in the shares of the Company and of its related corporations 
during and at the end of the financial year.

Directors’ benefits
Since the end of the previous financial year, no Director of the Company has received nor become entitled to receive any benefit 
(other than a benefit included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received or due and receivable by Directors as shown in the 
financial statements or the fixed salary of a full time employee of the Company) by reason of a contract made by the Company or a 
related corporation with the Director or with a firm of which the Director is a member, or with a company in which the Director has 
a substantial financial interest, other than certain Directors who have significant financial interests in certain companies which traded 
with the Group in the ordinary course of business as disclosed in Note 25 to the financial statements. 

There were no arrangements during and at the end of the financial year which had the object of enabling Directors of the Company to 
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

Issue of shares and debentures
There were neither changes in the authorised, issued and paid-up capitals of the Company, nor issuances of debentures by the Company, 
during the financial year. 

Options granted over unissued shares 
No options were granted to any person to take up unissued shares of the Company during the financial year.

Other statutory information
Before the financial statements of the Group and of the Company were made out, the Directors took reasonable steps to ascertain that: 

i)	 all known bad debts have been written off and adequate provision made for doubtful debts, and	

ii)	 any current assets which were unlikely to be realised in the ordinary course of business have been written down to an amount 
which they might be expected so to realise.
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Other statutory information (continued)

At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances:

i)	 that would render the amount written off for bad debts, or the amount of the provision for doubtful debts, in the Group and in 
the Company inadequate to any substantial extent, or

ii)	 that would render the value attributed to the current assets in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company 
misleading, or	

iii)	 which have arisen which render adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities of the Group and of the 
Company misleading or inappropriate, or

iv)	 not otherwise dealt with in this report or the financial statements, that would render any amount stated in the financial statements 
of the Group and of the Company misleading.

At the date of this report, there does not exist:
	
i)	 any charge on the assets of the Group or of the Company that has arisen since the end of the financial year and which secures 

the liabilities of any other person, or	

ii)	 any contingent liability in respect of the Group or of the Company that has arisen since the end of the financial year.

No contingent liability or other liability of any company in the Group has become enforceable, or is likely to become enforceable 
within the period of twelve months after the end of the financial year which, in the opinion of the Directors, will or may substantially 
affect the ability of the Group and of the Company to meet their obligations as and when they fall due.	

In the opinion of the Directors, the financial performance of the Group and of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 
2015 have not been substantially affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature nor has any such item, 
transaction or event occurred in the interval between the end of that financial year and the date of this report.

Auditors
The auditors, Messrs KPMG, have indicated their willingness to accept re-appointment.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the Directors:

…………………………….					     …………………………….
Dato Yu Chee Hoe						      Lau Kiing Kang

Kuching,

Date: 31 March 2016
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The notes on pages 31 to 61 are an integral part of these financial statements.

Statements of financial position as at 31 December 2015

	 Group	 Company
		  2015	 2014	 2015	 2014
	 Note	  RM	 RM  	 RM	 RM
				  
Assets

Property, plant and equipment	 3	 127,433,935	 120,266,259	 107,775,037	 111,192,976
Investment properties	 4	 8,914,122	 14,181,459	 -	 -
Investment in subsidiaries	 5	 -	 -	 146,600,000	 126,500,000
Land held for property development	 6	 185,774,765	 174,004,344	 62,868,894	 60,127,139
		  ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------
Total non-current assets		  322,122,822	 308,452,062	 317,243,931	 297,820,115
		  ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------

Property development costs	 7	 90,944,223	 67,476,385	 -	 -
Inventories	 8	 13,385,316	 13,303,544	 12,446,513	 12,460,225
Trade and other receivables	 9	 286,133,289	 264,118,792	 302,965,164	 252,498,223
Deposits and prepayments	 10	 7,086,194	 4,102,637	 6,010,158	 3,464,638
Cash and cash equivalents	 11	 94,952,452	 149,412,844	 70,582,075	 142,914,382
		  ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------
Total current assets		  492,501,474	 498,414,202	 392,003,910	 411,337,468
		  ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------

Total assets		  814,624,296	 806,866,264	 709,247,841	 709,157,583
		  ============	 ============	 ============	 ============

Equity
Share capital	 12	 116,535,200	 116,535,200	 116,535,200	 116,535,200
Reserves	 12	 541,343,804	 479,433,249	 448,791,457	 394,285,737
		  ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------
Equity attributable to owners of the Company		  657,879,004	 595,968,449	 565,326,657	 510,820,937	
		  ============	 ============	 ============	 ============
Non-current liability

Deferred tax liabilities	 13	 13,991,200	 15,485,500	 14,014,000	 15,522,000
		  ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------

Trade and other payables	 14	 142,052,152	 192,578,255	 126,048,184	 179,695,646
Current tax payable		  701,940	 2,834,060	 3,859,000	 3,119,000
		  ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------
Total current liabilities		  142,754,092	 195,412,315	 129,907,184	 182,814,646
		  ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------

Total liabilities		  156,745,292	 210,897,815	 143,921,184	 198,336,646
		  ============	 ============	 ============	 ============

Total equity and liabilities		  814,624,296	 806,866,264	 709,247,841	 709,157,583
		  ============	 ============	 ============	 ============
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Statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
for the year ended 31 December 2015

	 Group	 Company

		  2015	 2014	 2015	 2014

	 Note	 RM  	 RM	 RM 	 RM 

Revenue	 15	 654,736,059	 604,721,309	 622,573,397	 572,767,959

Cost of sales	 15	 (542,356,379)	 ( 495,040,028)	 (521,280,903)	 (474,290,895)

		  ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------

Gross profit		  112,379,680	 109,681,281 	 101,292,494	 98,477,064

Other income		  1,090,861	 3,047,142	 933,909	 3,006,599

Administrative expenses		  (  15,175,860)	 (   13,461,536)	 (  13,767,409)	 (  12,137,574)

		  ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------

Results from operating activities	 16	 98,294,681	 99,266,887	 88,458,994	 89,346,089

Finance income	 17	 3,319,058	 4,274,982	 3,069,743	 4,119,561

Finance costs	 17	 (       376,741)	 (        389,794)	 (       318,142)	 (       313,310)

Net finance income		  2,942,317	 3,885,188	 2,751,601	 3,806,251

		  ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------

Profit before tax		  101,236,998	 103,152,075	 91,210,595	 93,152,340

Income tax expense	 18	 (  25,039,003)	 (   26,225,070)	 (  22,417,435)	 (  23,607,285)

		  ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------

Profit/Total comprehensive 

	 income for the year		  76,197,995	 76,927,005	 68,793,160	 69,545,055

		  ============	 ============	 ============	 ============

Basic earnings per ordinary share (sen)	 19	 13.87	 13.99

		  ============	 ============	

The notes on pages 31 to 61 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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The notes on pages 31 to 61 are an integral part of these financial statements.

Consolidated statements of changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 2015
					   
	                                                                                                                   
	 ____Non-distributable____	 ____Distributable____
			   Capital
		  Share	 redemption	 Treasury	 Retained	
		  capital	 reserve	 shares	 earnings	 Total
Group	 Note	 RM	 RM	 RM	 RM	 RM

At 1 January 2014		  116,535,200	 2,165,500	 (  36,370,261)	 454,690,957	 537,021,396

Profit/Total comprehensive income 
	 for the year		  -	 -	 -	 76,927,005	 76,927,005

Own shares acquired	 12.3	 -	 -	 (    1,488,693)	 -	 (   1,488,693)
Dividends to owners of the Company	 20	 -	 -	 -	 (  16,491,259)	 ( 16,491,259)

Total distribution to owners		  -	 -	 (    1,488,693)	 (  16,491,259)	 ( 17,979,952)
			   ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------
At 31 December 2014/1 January 2015		  116,535,200	 2,165,500	 (  37,858,954)	 515,126,703	 595,968,449

Profit/Total comprehensive income 
	 for the year		  -	 -	 -	 76,197,995	 76,197,995

Dividends to owners of the Company	 20	 -	 -	 -	 (  14,287,440)	 ( 14,287,440)
			   ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------
At 31 December 2015		  116,535,200	 2,165,500	 (  37,858,954)	 577,037,258	 657,879,004
			   ============	 ============	 ============	 ============	 ============
		  (Note 12.1)	 (Note 12.2)	 (Note 12.3)

Company

At 1 January 2014		  116,535,200	 2,165,500	 (    36,370,261)	 376,925,395	 459,255,834

Profit/Total comprehensive income 
	 for the year		  -	 -	 -	 69,545,055	 69,545,055

Own shares acquired	 12.3	 -	 -	 (      1,488,693)	 -	 (    1,488,693)
Dividends to owners of the Company	 20	 -	 -	 -	 (    16,491,259)	 (  16,491,259)

Total distribution to owners		  -	 -	 (      1,488,693)	 (    16,491,259)	 (  17,979,952)
			   ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------
At 31 December 2014/1 January 2015	  	 116,535,200	 2,165,500	 (    37,858,954)	 429,979,191	 510,820,937

Profit/Total comprehensive income 
	 for the year		  -	 -	 -	 68,793,160	 68,793,160

Dividends to owners of the Company	 20	 -	 -	 -	 (    14,287,440)	 (  14,287,440)
			   ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------
At 31 December 2015		  116,535,200	 2,165,500	 (    37,858,954)	 484,484,911	 565,326,657
			   ============	 ============	 ============	 ============	 ============
		  (Note 12.1)	 (Note 12.2)	 (Note 12.3)
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Statements of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2015

	 Group	 Company
			   2015	 2014	 2015	 2014
		  Note	 RM	 RM	 RM	 RM 

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before tax		  101,236,998	 103,152,075	 91,210,595	 93,152,340
Adjustments for:	
	 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment	 3.3	 10,243,247	 9,815,374	 10,144,889	 9,783,162
	 Depreciation of investment properties	 4	 363,056	 421,002	 -	 -
	 Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment	 16	 (      553,345)	 (   2,630,314)	 (      553,345)	 (   2,630,607)
	 Property, plant and equipment written off	 16	 136,091	 357,467	 135,278	 356,475
	 Finance income	 17	 (   3,319,058)	 (   4,274,982)	 (   3,069,743)	 (   4,119,561)
	 Finance costs	 17	 376,741	 389,794	 318,142	 313,310
			   ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	
Operating profit before changes in working capital		  108,483,730	 107,230,416	 98,185,816	 96,855,119 

Change in inventories		  (        81,773)	 2,157,671	 13,711	 2,558,159
Change in property development costs		  ( 23,507,337)	 ( 12,412,656)	 -	 -
Change in trade and other receivables, deposits
	 and prepayments		  ( 24,216,292)	 ( 15,184,540)	 ( 20,195,402)	 ( 28,623,743)
Change in trade and other payables		  ( 50,707,339)	 ( 30,737,578)	 ( 53,965,603)	 ( 23,403,080)
				    ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	
Cash generated from operations		  9,970,989	 51,053,313 	 24,038,522	 47,386,455

Interest received		  2,392,298	 3,769,196	 2,152,684	 3,612,211
Tax paid		  ( 28,665,423)	 ( 28,283,474)	 ( 23,185,435)	 ( 24,474,285)
				    ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	
Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities		  ( 16,302,136)	 26,539,035	 3,005,771	 26,524,381
				    ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	

Cash flows from investing activities

Increase in investment in subsidiary	 5	 -	 -	 ( 20,000,000)	 (   3,000,000)
Subscription of shares in a subsidiary		  -	 -	 (      100,000)	 -
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment	 3	 ( 14,430,996)	 (   9,912,130)	 (   8,639,484)	 (   9,882,375)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant 
	 and equipment		  2,330,601	 5,541,625	 2,330,601	 5,540,705
Land held for property development	 6	 ( 11,770,421)	  ( 10,678,563)	 (   2,741,755)	 (   2,609,217)
Acquisition of investment property	 4	 -	 (   1,888,025)	 -	 -
Withdrawal/(Placement) of fixed deposits with original 
	 maturities exceeding three months 		  5,989,746	 (          9,951)	 5,989,746	 (          9,951)
				    ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	
Net cash used in investing activities		  ( 17,881,070)	 ( 16,947,044)	 ( 23,160,892)	 (   9,960,838)
				    ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	

Cash flows from financing activities
	
Dividends paid to owners of the Company	 20	 ( 14,287,440)	 ( 16,491,259)	 ( 14,287,440)	 ( 16,491,259)
Amount due from subsidiary		  -	 -	 ( 31,900,000)	 -
Repurchase of own shares	 12.3	 -	 (   1,488,693)	 -	 (   1,488,693)
				    ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	
Net cash used in financing activities		  ( 14,287,440)	 ( 17,979,952)	 ( 46,187,440)	 ( 17,979,952)
				    ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents		  ( 48,470,646)	 (   8,387,961)	 ( 66,342,561)	 (   1,416,409)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year		  143,076,640	 151,464,601	 136,578,178	 137,994,587
				    ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 	 (i)	 94,605,994	 143,076,640	 70,235,617	 136,578,178

				    ============	 ============	 ============	 ============	
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Statements of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)
					   
	                                                                                                                   
Note

(i)	 Cash and cash equivalents

	 Cash and cash equivalents included in the statements of cash flows comprise the following amounts in statements of financial 
position:

	 Group	 Company
				    2015	 2014	 2015	 2014
				    RM	 RM	 RM 	 RM 

	 Total deposits placed with licensed banks	 33,316,458	 61,826,204	 13,646,458	 58,336,204
	 Cash and bank balances	 61,635,994	 87,586,640	 56,935,617	 84,578,178
	  			   ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------
	 Total (see Note 11)	 94,952,452	 149,412,844	 70,582,075	 142,914,382
		
	 Fixed deposit with original maturities exceeding
		  three months	 (        346,458)	(     6,336,204)	 (        346,458)	(     6,336,204)
	  			   ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------
			   94,605,994	 143,076,640	 70,235,617	 136,578,178
				    ============	 ============	 ============	 ============

The notes on pages 31 to 61 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the financial statements 

Hock Seng Lee Berhad is a public limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia and is listed on the Main Market 
of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. The address of its principal place of business and registered office is Lot 1004, Jalan Kwong Lee 
Bank, 93450 Kuching, Sarawak.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company as at and for the financial year ended 31 December 2015 comprise the Company 
and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group” and individually referred to as “Group entities”).

The Company is principally engaged in marine engineering and civil engineering as well as a construction contractor whilst the 
principal activities of the subsidiaries are as stated in Note 5 to the financial statements.

The holding company as well as the ultimate holding company during the financial year is Hock Seng Lee Enterprise Sendirian Berhad, 
a company incorporated in Malaysia.

These financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 31 March 2016.

1.	 Basis of preparation

	 (a)	 Statement of compliance
		  The financial statements of the Group and the Company have been prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting 

Standards (“FRSs”) and the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia.

		  The following are accounting standards, amendments and interpretations that have been issued by the Malaysian Accounting 
Standards Board (“MASB”) but have not been adopted by the Group and the Company:

		  FRS / Amendment / Interpretation	 Effective date

		  FRS 14, Regulatory Deferral Accounts	 1 January 2016
		  Amendments to FRS 5, Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations 
			   (Annual Improvements to FRSs 2012-2014 Cycle)	 1 January 2016
		  Amendments to FRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures (Annual Improvements to FRSs 
			   2012-2014 Cycle) 	 1 January 2016
		  Amendments to FRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, FRS 12,
			   Disclosure of interests in Other Entities and FRS 128, Investment in Associates
			   and Joint Ventures – Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception	 1 January 2016
		  Amendments to FRS 11, Joint Arrangements - Accounting for Acquisitions of Interest 
			   in Joint Operations	 1 January 2016
		  Amendments to FRS 101, Presentation of Financial Statements – Disclosures Initiative	 1 January 2016
		  Amendments to FRS 116, Property, Plant and Equipment and FRS 138, Intangible Assets 
	 	 	 - Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation	 1 January 2016
		  Amendments to FRS 119, Employee Benefits (Annual Improvements to FRSs 2012-2014 Cycle)	 1 January 2016
		  Amendments to FRS 127, Separate Financial Statements - Equity Method in 
			   Separate Financial Statements	 1 January 2016
		  Amendments to FRS 134, Interim Financial Reporting (Annual Improvements to 2012-2014 Cycle)	 1 January 2016
		  FRS 9, Financial Instruments (2014)	 1 January 2018
		  Amendments to FRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements and FRS 128, 
			   Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures - Sale or Contribution of Assets between 
			   an investor and its Associate or Joint Venture	 To be confirmed

		  The Group and the Company plan to apply:

		  •	 from the annual period beginning on 1 January 2016 for those standards, amendments or interpretations that are 
effective for annual periods beginning on 1 January 2016, except for FRS 14, Amendments to FRS 5, Amendments 
to FRS 12, Amendments to FRS 128, Amendments to FRS 11, Amendments to FRS 138, Amendments to FRS 119 and 
Amendments to FRS127, which are assessed as presently not applicable to the Group and the Company.

	 The initial application of the above mentioned standards, amendments or interpretations are not expected to have any 
material impacts for the current and prior period of the financial statements of the Group and the Company.

		  Migration to new accounting framework

		  The Group and the Company fall within the scope of IC Interpretation 15, Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate. 
Therefore, the Group and the Company is currently exempted from adopting the Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards 
(“MFRS”) and is referred to as a “Transitioning Entity”.

		  The Group’s and the Company’s financial statements from the annual period beginning on 1 January 2018 will be prepared 
in accordance with the Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRSs”) issued by the MASB and International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”).
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1.	 Basis of preparation (continued)
	
	 (a)	 Statement of compliance (continued)

		  The Group and the Company will apply the following MFRSs that are not yet effective:

		  Standard/Amendment/Interpretation	 Effective date

		  MFRS 9, Financial Instruments	 1 January 2018
		  MFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers	 1 January 2018

		  Material impacts of the initial application of the above accounting standards, which are or are likely to be applicable to the 
Group and which are to be applied retrospectively, are discussed below:

(i)	 MFRS 9, Financial Instruments
	 MFRS 9 replaces the guidance in MFRS 139, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement on the classification 

and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities, and on hedge accounting.

		 The Group is currently assessing the financial impact that may arise from the adoption of MFRS 9.

(ii)	 MFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers
	 MFRS 15 replaces the guidance in MFRS 111, Construction Contracts, MFRS 118, Revenue, IC Interpretation 13, 

Customer Loyalty Programmes, IC Interpretation 15, Agreements for Construction of Real Estate, IC Interpretation 
18, Transfers of Assets from Customers and IC Interpretation 131, Revenue - Barter Transactions Involving Advertising 
Services.

		 The Group is currently assessing the financial impact that may arise from the adoption of MFRS 15.

	 (b)	 Basis of measurement
		  The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis other than as disclosed in Note 2. 

	 (c)	 Functional and presentation currency
		  These financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (RM), which is the Company’s functional currency.

	 (d)	 Use of estimates and judgements
		  The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with FRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates 

and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

		  Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised 
in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. 

		  There are no significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have 
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements other than those disclosed in the followings:	
	
(i)	 Profit from construction contracts	
	 The Group and the Company recognise contract revenue and contract costs in profit or loss using the stage of completion 

method. The stage of completion is determined by reference to the proportion that contract costs incurred for contract 
work performed to-date bear to the estimated total contract costs.

	 Significant judgement is required in determining the stage of completion of construction activities, accrual of costs 
incurred for which claims/billings have yet to be received, estimated total contract revenue and contract costs as well as 
the recoverability of the carrying amount of the contract work-in-progress. The total contract revenue also includes an 
estimation of the variations that are recoverable from the contract customers. 

	 The Group and the Company rely when making the estimations and judgements on, inter alia, past experiences and the 
assessment of their experienced project managers and quantity surveyors.			 

(ii)	 Profit from property development	 	 	
	 The Group recognises revenue and costs from property development in profit or loss based on the stage of completion of 

properties sold, measured by reference to the proportion that property development costs incurred for work performed 
to-date bear to the estimated total property development costs.

			 Significant judgement is required in determining the stage of completion of the development activities, extent of property 
development costs incurred, estimated total property development revenue and costs as well as the recoverability of the 
development projects. In making such estimations and judgements, the Group relies, as with the construction activities 
explained above on, inter alia, past experiences and the assessment of its experienced project managers and quantity 
surveyors.
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2.	 Significant accounting policies

	 The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to the periods presented in these financial statements and 
have been applied consistently by the Group and the Company, unless otherwise disclosed.

	 (a)	 Basis of consolidation 

		  (i)	 Subsidiaries
			   Subsidiaries are entities, including structured entities, controlled by the Company. The financial statements of subsidiaries 

are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control 
ceases.

			   The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity 
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. Potential voting rights are considered when 
assessing control only when such rights are substantive.

			   The Group also considers it has de facto power over an investee when, despite not having the majority of voting rights, 
it has the current ability to direct the activities of the investee that significantly affect the investee’s return. 

			   Investment in subsidiaries are measured in the Company’s statement of financial position at cost less any impairment 
losses, unless the investment is classified as held for sale or distribution. The cost of investments includes transaction 
costs.

		  (ii)	 Business combinations
			   Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method from the acquisition date, which is the date on 

which control is transferred to the Group.

			   For new acquisitions, the Group measures the cost of goodwill at the acquisition date as:

			   •		 the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus
			   •		 the recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree; plus
			   •		 if the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the existing equity interest in the acquiree; less
			   •		 the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

			   When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

			   For each business combination, the Group elects whether it measures the non-controlling interests in the acquiree either 
at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets at the acquisition date.

				   Transaction cost, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, that the Group incurs in 
connection with a business combination are expensed as incurred.

		  (iii)	 Acquisitions from entities under common controls 
			   Business combinations arising from transfer of interest in entities that are under the control of the shareholders that 

controls the Group are accounted for as if the acquisition had occurred at the beginning of the earliest comparative 
period presented or, if later, at the date that common control was established; for this purpose comparative are restated. 
The assets and liabilities acquired are recognised at the carrying amounts recognised previously in the group controlling 
shareholder’s consolidated financial statements. The components of equity of the acquired entities are added to the 
same components within group equity and any resulting gain/loss is recognised directly in equity. 

		  (iv)	 Loss of control
			   Upon the loss of control of a subsidiary, the Group derecognises the assets and liabilities of the former subsidiary, any 

non-controlling interests and the other components of equity related to the former subsidiary from the consolidated 
statement of financial position. Any surplus or deficit arising on the loss of control is recognised in profit or loss. If the 
Group retains any interest in the former subsidiary, then such interest is measured at fair value at the date that control 
is lost. Subsequently, it is accounted for as an equity accounted investee or as an available-for-sale financial asset 
depending on the level of influence retained.

		  (v)	 Transactions eliminated on consolidation
			   Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, 

are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.	

	 (b)	 Foreign currency transactions 

		  Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities at exchange rates at 
the dates of transactions.

		  Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the end of the reporting period are retranslated to the 
functional currency at the exchange rate at that date.
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2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)

	 (b)	 Foreign currency transactions (continued)

		  Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are not retranslated at the end of the reporting date, 
except for those measured at fair value are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date that the 
fair value was determined.

		  Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognised in profit or loss, except for differences arising on the 
retranslation of available-for-sale equity instruments or a financial instrument designated as a hedge of currency risk, which 
are recognised in other comprehensive income.

	 (c)	 Financial instruments

		  (i)	 Initial recognition and measurement
			   A financial asset or a financial liability is recognised in the statement of financial position when, and only when, the 

Group or the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

			   A financial instrument is recognised initially, at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial instrument not at fair 
value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial 
instrument.

			   An embedded derivative is recognised separately from the host contract and accounted for as a derivative if, and only 
if, it is not closely related to the economic characteristics and risks of the host contract and the host contract is not 
categorised at fair value through profit or loss. The host contract, in the event an embedded derivative is recognised 
separately, is accounted for in accordance with policy applicable to the nature of the host contract.

		  (ii)	 Financial instruments categories and subsequent measurement
			   The Group and the Company categorise financial instruments as follows:

			   Financial assets

	 	 	 (a)	 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
				    Fair value through profit or loss category comprises financial assets that are held for trading, including derivatives 

(except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated and effective hedging instrument) or 
financial assets that are specifically designated into this category upon initial recognition.

				    Derivatives that are linked to and must be settled by delivery of unquoted equity instruments whose fair values 
cannot be reliably measured are measured at cost.

				    Other financial assets categorised as fair value through profit or loss are subsequently measured at their fair values 
with the gain or loss recognised in profit or loss.

			   (b)	 Held-to-maturity investments
				    Held-to-maturity investments category comprises debt instruments that are quoted in an active market and the 

Group or the Company has the positive intention and ability to hold them to maturity.

				    Financial assets categorised as held-to-maturity investments are subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method.

			 
			   (c)	 Loans and receivables
				    Loans and receivables category comprises debt instruments that are not quoted in an active market.

				    Financial assets categorised as loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method.

	 	 	 (d)	 	Available-for-sale financial assets
					    Available-for-sale category comprises investment in equity and debt securities instruments that are not held for 

trading.

				    Investments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair 
value cannot be reliably measured are measured at cost. Other financial assets categorised as available-for-sale 
are subsequently measured at their fair values with the gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income, 
except for impairment losses, foreign exchange gains and losses arising from monetary items and gains and 
losses of hedged items attributable to hedge risks of fair value hedges which are recognised in profit or loss. On 
derecognition, the cumulative gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity 
into profit or loss. Interest calculated for a debt instrument using the effective interest method is recognised in 
profit or loss.

			   All financial assets, except for those measured at fair value through profit or loss, are subject to review for impairment
			   [see Note 2(l)(i)].
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2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)

	 (c)	 Financial instruments (continued)

		  (ii)	 Financial instruments categories and subsequent measurement (continued)

			   Financial liabilities
	
				   All financial liabilities, other than those categorised as fair value through profit or loss, are subsequently measured at 

amortised cost.

				   Fair value through profit or loss category comprises financial liabilities that are derivatives (except for a derivative 
that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated and effective hedging instrument) or financial liabilities that are 
specifically designated into this category upon initial recognition.

				   Derivatives that are linked to and must be settled by delivery of equity instruments that do not have a quoted price in an 
active market for identical instruments whose fair values otherwise cannot be reliably measured are measured at cost.

				   Other financial liabilities categorised as fair value through profit or loss are subsequently measured at their fair values 
with the gain or loss recognised in profit or loss. 

		  (iii)	 Financial guarantee contracts 
			   A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder 

for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the original or 
modified terms of a debt instrument.

			   Fair value arising from financial guarantee contracts are classified as deferred income and are amortised to profit or loss 
using a straight-line method over the contractual period or, when there is no specified contractual period, recognised in 
profit or loss upon discharge of the guarantee. When settlement of a financial guarantee contract becomes probable, an 
estimate of the obligation is made.  If the carrying value of the financial guarantee contract is lower than the obligation, 
the carrying value is adjusted to the obligation amount and accounted for as a provision.

	 	 (iv)	 Regular way purchase or sale of financial assets
			   A regular way purchase or sale is a purchase or sale of a financial asset under a contract whose terms require delivery 

of the asset within the time frame established generally by regulation or convention in the marketplace concerned.

			   A regular way purchase or sale of financial assets is recognised and derecognised, as applicable, using trade date 
accounting. Trade date accounting refers to:

			   (a)		 the recognition of an asset to be received and the liability to pay for it on the trade date, and

			   (b)	 derecognition of an asset that is sold, recognition of any gain or loss on disposal and the recognition of a receivable 
from the buyer for payment on the trade date.

		  (v)	 Derecognition 
			   A financial asset or a part of it is derecognised when, and only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 

financial asset expire or control of the asset is not retained or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the ownership 
of the financial asset are transferred to another party. On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the 
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability 
assumed) and any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

			   A financial liability or a part of it is derecognised when, and only when, the obligation specified in the contract is 
discharged, cancelled or expired. On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount 
of the financial liability extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash 
assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

	 (d)	 Property, plant and equipment

		  (i)	 Recognition and measurement
			   Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 

impairment losses.

			   Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of asset and any other costs directly attributable 
to bringing the asset to working condition for its intended use, and the costs of dismantling and removing the items 
and restoring the site on which they are located. The cost of self-constructed assets also includes the cost of materials 
and direct labour. For qualifying assets, borrowing costs are capitalised in accordance with the accounting policy on 
borrowing cost. Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of 
that equipment. 
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2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)

	 (d)	 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

		  (i)	 Recognition and measurement (continued)
	
			   When significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as 

separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

			   The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined by comparing the proceeds from 
disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment and is recognised net within “other income” and 
“other expenses” respectively in profit or loss.

		  (ii)	 Subsequent costs
			   The cost of replacing a component of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of 

the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the component will flow to the Group or 
the Company, and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced component is derecognised 
to profit or loss. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in profit or loss 
as incurred.

		  (iii)	 Depreciation
			   Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its residual value. Significant components of individual assets are 

assessed, and if a component has a useful life that is different from the remainder of that asset, then that component is 
depreciated separately.

			   Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each component of 
an item of property, plant and equipment from the date that they are available for use. Leased assets are depreciated over 
the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that the Group will obtain ownership 
by the end of the lease term. 

			   Assets under construction are not depreciated until the assets are ready for their intended use.

			   The principal depreciation rates, residual values and secondary depreciation rates for the current and comparative 
periods are as follows:

					    Useful	 Residual	 Residual
					    lives	 value	 useful lives
	
			   Leasehold land	 41, 60, 61 and 99 years 	 Not set	 Not applicable	
			   Buildings	 50 years	 Not set	 Not applicable
			   Furniture and fittings	 5 and 13 years	 Not set	 Not applicable
			   Motor vehicles	 10 years	 Set	 10 years
			   Plant, machinery and equipment	 5 and 10 years	 Set	 10 years
			   Vessels and wharf	 10, 15 and 20 years	 Set	 10 and 15 years

			   Residual values of the assets are determined based on Directors’ best estimates. The depreciable amount is determined 
after deducting the residual value. Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed, and adjusted 
as appropriate at the end of the reporting period.

	 (e)	 Leased assets

		  (i)	 Finance lease
			   Leases in terms of which the Group and the Company assume substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are 

classified as finance leases. Upon initial recognition, the leased asset is measured at an amount equal to the lower 
of its fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is 
accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset.

			   Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance expense and the reduction 
of the outstanding liability. The finance expense is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a 
constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Contingent lease payments are accounted for 
by revising the minimum lease payments over the remaining term of the lease when the lease adjustment is confirmed.

			   Leasehold land which in substance is a finance lease is classified as property, plant and equipment, or as investment 
property if held to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or both.

		  (ii)	 Operating lease
			   Leases, where the Group or the Company does not assume substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are 

classified as operating leases and, except for property interest held under operating lease, the leased assets are not 
recognised in the statement of financial position. Property interest held under an operating lease, which is held to earn 
rental income or for capital appreciation or both, is classified as investment property and measured using fair value 
model. 
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2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)

	 (e)	 Leased assets (continued)

		  (ii)	 Operating lease (continued)
			   Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.  

Lease incentives received are recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the term of 
the lease.  Contingent rentals are charged to profit or loss in the reporting period in which they are incurred.

			   Leasehold land which in substance is an operating lease is classified as prepaid lease payments.

	 (f)	 Investment properties
		  Investment properties are properties which are owned to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for both, but they 

are not for sale in the ordinary course of business, use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative 
purposes.

		  Investment properties are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. 
Depreciation is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives, which is the remaining years 
of lease.

		  An investment property is derecognised on its disposal or when it is permanently withdrawn from use and no future 
economic benefits are expected from its disposal. The difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount 
is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the item is derecognised.

		  Capital work-in-progress under construction is not depreciated until the assets are ready for their intended use.

	 (g)	 Land held for property development
		  Land held for property development consists of land or such portions thereof on which no development activities have been 

carried out or where development activities are not expected to be completed within the Group’s normal operating cycle of 
2 to 3 years. Such land is classified as a non-current asset and is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

		  Land held for property development is reclassified as property development costs at the point when development activities 
have commenced and where it can be demonstrated that the development activities can be completed within the Group’s 
normal operating cycle of 2 to 3 years.

		  Cost associated with the acquisition of land includes the purchase price of the land, professional fees, stamp duties, 
commissions, conversion fees, other direct development expenditure and related overheads.

	 (h)	 Property development costs
		  Property development costs comprise costs associated with the acquisition of land and all costs that are directly attributable 

to development activities or that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to such activities.

		  Property development costs not recognised as an expense are recognised as an asset and are stated at the lower of cost and 
net realisable value.

		  The excess of revenue recognised in profit or loss over billings to purchasers is shown as accrued billings under trade and 
other receivables (Note 9) and the excess of billings to purchasers over revenue recognised in profit or loss is shown as 
progress billings under trade and other payables (Note 14).

	 (i)	 Inventories 
		  Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in 

the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

		  (i)	 Developed properties held for sale
			   Cost of developed properties includes the relevant costs associated with the acquisition of land and development 

expenditure which consists of direct costs and appropriate proportions of common costs attributable to developing the 
properties to completion. 

		  (ii)	 Consumables
			   Cost of consumables is measured based on the first-in first-out basis and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the 

inventories and bringing them to their existing location and condition.
	
	 (j)	 Construction work-in-progress
		  Construction work-in-progress represents the gross unbilled amount expected to be collected from customers for contract 

work performed to date. It is measured at cost plus profit recognised to date less progress billings and recognised losses. Cost 
includes all expenditure related directly to specific projects and an allocation of fixed and variable overheads incurred in the 
Group’s construction activities based on normal operating capacity.

		  Construction work-in-progress is presented as part of trade and other receivables as amount due from contract customers in 
the statements of financial position for all contracts in which costs incurred plus recognised profits exceed progress billings. 
If progress billings exceed costs incurred plus recognised profits, then the difference is presented as part of trade and other 
payables as amount due to contract customers in the statements of financial position.
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2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)

	 (k)	 Cash and cash equivalents
		  Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, balances and deposits with banks and highly liquid investments which 

have an insignificant risk of changes in fair value with original maturities of three months or less, and are used by the Group 
and the Company in the management of their short term commitments. For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash 
and cash equivalents are presented net of bank overdrafts and pledged deposits. 

	 (l)	 Impairment 

		  (i)	 Financial assets 
				   All financial assets (except for financial assets categorised as fair value through profit or loss and investment in 

subsidiaries) are assessed at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence of impairment as a result of one 
or more events having an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the asset. Losses expected as a result of future 
events, no matter how likely, are not recognised. For an investment in an equity instrument, a significant or prolonged 
decline in the fair value below its cost is an objective evidence of impairment. If any such objective evidence exists, 
then the impairment loss of the financial asset is estimated.

			   An impairment loss in respect of loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investments is recognised in profit or loss 
and is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash 
flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the 
use of an allowance account.

			   An impairment loss in respect of available-for-sale financial assets is recognised in profit or loss and is measured as the 
difference between the asset’s acquisition cost (net of any principal repayment and amortisation) and the asset’s current 
fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised.  Where a decline in the fair value of an available-for-sale 
financial asset has been recognised in the other comprehensive income, the cumulative loss in other comprehensive 
income is reclassified from equity to profit or loss.

			   An impairment loss in respect of unquoted equity instrument that is carried at cost is recognised in profit or loss and is 
measured as the difference between the financial asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash 
flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset.

				   Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss for an investment in an equity instrument classified as available for sale 
is not reversed through profit or loss.

			   If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument increases and the increase can be objectively related to an 
event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed, to the extent 
that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed what the carrying amount would have been had the impairment not 
been recognised at the date the impairment is reversed. The amount of the reversal is recognised in profit or loss.

		  (ii)	 Other assets 
			   The carrying amounts of other assets (except for inventories [refer Note 2(i)] and amount due from contract customers 

[refer to Note 2(j)]) are reviewed at the end of each reporting period to determine whether there is any indication of 
impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 

			   For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash 
inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or cash-generating units. 

			   The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs of 
disposal. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or 
cash-generating unit.

			   An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its related cash-generating unit exceeds its 
estimated recoverable amount.

				   Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are 
allocated first to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating 
units) on a pro rata basis.

			   An impairment loss in prior periods are assessed at the end of each reporting period for any indications that the loss 
has decreased or no longer exists.  An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to 
determine the recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised.  An impairment loss is reversed only 
to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, 
net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.  Reversals of impairment losses are 
credited to profit or loss in the financial year in which the reversals are recognised. 

	 (m)	 Equity instruments
		  Instruments classified as equity are measured at cost on initial recognition and are not remeasured subsequently.

		  (i)	 Issue expenses
			   Costs directly attributable to issue of instruments classified as equity are recognised as a deduction from equity.
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2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)

	 (m)	 Equity instruments (continued)

		  (ii)	 Ordinary shares
			   Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

		  (iii)	 Repurchase, disposal and reissue of share capital
			   When share capital recognised as equity is repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid, including directly 

attributable costs, net of any tax effects, is recognised as a deduction from equity.  Repurchased shares that are not 
subsequently cancelled are classified as treasury shares in the statements of changes in equity.

			   When treasury shares are distributed as share dividends, the cost of the treasury shares is applied in the reduction of the 
share premium account or distributable reserves, or both.

			   When treasury shares are sold or reissued subsequently, the difference between the sales consideration net of directly 
attributable costs and the carrying amount of the treasury shares is recognised in equity, and the resulting surplus or 
deficit on the transaction is presented in share premium.

			   When treasury shares are cancelled, their nominal amounts are eliminated and the difference between their cost and 
nominal amounts is taken to reserves in the statements of changes in equity as appropriate.

	 (n)	 Employee benefits

	 	 (i)	 Short-term employee benefits 
			   Short-term employee benefit obligations in respect of salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and sick leave are 

measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is provided.

			   A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if the 
Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the 
employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably. 

		  (ii)	 State plans 
			   The Group’s contributions to statutory pension funds are charged to profit or loss in the financial year to which they 

relate. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in future payment 
is available.

	 (o)	 Revenue and other income
	
		  (i)	 Construction contracts 
			   Contract revenue includes the initial amount agreed in the contract plus any variations in contract work, claims and 

incentive payments, to the extent that it is probable that they will result in revenue and can be measured reliably. 
As soon as the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, contract revenue and contract cost are 
recognised in profit or loss in proportion to the stage of completion of the contract. Contract expenses are recognised 
as incurred unless they create an asset related to future contract activity. 

			   The stage of completion is assessed by reference to the proportion that contract costs incurred for work performed to-
date bear to the estimated total contract costs. 

			   When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised only to 
the extent of contract costs incurred that are likely to be recoverable. An expected loss on a contract is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss.

		  (ii)	 Property development 
			   Revenue from property development activities is recognised based on the stage of completion of properties sold 

measured by reference to the proportion that property development costs incurred for work performed to-date bear to 
the estimated total property development costs.

			   Where the financial outcome of a property development activity cannot be reliably estimated, property development 
revenue is recognised only to the extent of property development costs incurred that is probable to be recoverable, and 
property development costs on the development units sold are recognised as an expense in the period in which they 
are incurred.

			   Any expected loss on a development project, including costs to be incurred over the defects liability period, is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss.

		  (iii)	 Rental income
			   Rental income from investment property is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. 

Lease incentives granted are recognised as an integral part of the total rental income, over the term of the lease. Rental 
income from sub-leased property is recognised as other income.
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2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)
	
	 (o)	 Revenue and other income (continued)

		  (iv)	 Interest income
			   Interest income is recognised in profit or loss as it accrues using the effective interest method. 

		  (v)	 Dividend income
			   Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss on the date that the Group’s or the Company’s right to receive payment 

is established. 

	 (p)	 Borrowing costs
		  Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are 

recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method.

		  Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that 
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of 
those assets.

		  The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the asset is 
being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use 
or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when substantially all the activities necessary 
to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are interrupted or completed.

		  Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying 
assets is deducted from the borrowings costs eligible for capitalisation.

	 (q)	 Income tax
		  Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss except 

to the extent that it relates to a business combination or items recognised directly in equity or other comprehensive income.
		
		  Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted or 

substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous financial 
years.

		  Deferred tax is recognised using the liability method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities in the statements of financial position and their tax bases. 

		  Deferred tax is not recognised for the temporary differences arising from initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a 
transaction that is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred tax is 
measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

		  Where investment properties are carried at their fair value in accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2(f), the 
amount of deferred tax recognised is measured using the tax rates that would apply on sale of those assets at their carrying 
value at the reporting date unless the property is depreciable and is held with the objective to consume substantially all of the 
economic benefits embodied in the property over time, rather than through sale. In all other cases, the amount of deferred 
tax recognised is measured based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of the assets 
and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not 
discounted.

		  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and 
they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they 
intend to settle current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.

		  A deferred tax assets is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which 
the temporary difference can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and are 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

		  Unutilised reinvestment allowance and investment tax allowance, being tax incentives that is not a tax base of an asset, is 
recognised as a deferred tax asset to the extent that it is probable that the future taxable profits will be available against which 
the unutilised tax incentive can be utilised.

	 (r)	 Earnings per ordinary share
		  The Group presents basic earnings per share (“EPS”) data for its ordinary shares. 

		  Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period, adjusted for own shares held. 
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2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)

	 (s)	 Operating segments
		  An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues 

and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other components. 
Operating segment results are reviewed regularly by the chief operating decision maker, which in this case is the Group 
Managing Director, to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and to assess its performance, and for 
which discrete financial information is available.

	 (t)	 Contingent liabilities
		  Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, 

the obligation is not recognised in the statements of financial position and is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the 
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability 
of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

	 (u)	 Fair value measurement
		  Fair value of an asset or a liability, is determined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a 

liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The measurement assumes that the 
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market or in the absence of a principal 
market, in the most advantageous market. 

		  For non-financial asset, the fair value measurement takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic 
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in 
its highest and best use.

		  When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses observable market data as far as possible. Fair value 
are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the input used in the valuation technique as follows:

		  Level 1:	 quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Group can access at the 
measurement date.

		  Level 2:	 inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 
or indirectly.

		  Level 3:	 unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

		  The Group recognised transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as of the date of the event or change in circumstances 
that caused the transfers.
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		 Leasehold land				    Plant,
	 (unexpired	 (unexpired		  Furniture		  machinery	 Vessels	 Assets
	 lease term	 lease term		  and	 Motor	 and	 and	 under
	 > 50 years)	 < 50 years)	 Buildings	 fittings	 vehicles	 equipment	 wharf	 construction	 Total
Group 	 RM	 RM	 RM	 RM	 RM	 RM	 RM	 RM	 RM
	
Cost

At 1 January 2014	 23,839,582	 1,280,021	 3,609,402	 1,678,197	 22,938,694	 101,610,789	 73,652,592	 5,797,612	 234,406,889
Additions	 -	 -	 -	 83,793	 3,129,020	 5,196,992	 -	 1,502,325	 9,912,130
Disposals	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (      809,069)	 (       107,784)	 (  2,259,047)	 ( 2,352,763)	 (    5,528,663)
Write-offs	 -	 -	 -	 (        36,133)	 (      611,620)	 (       163,618)	 -	 -	 (       811,371)
                                             _________________________________________________________________________________________________   ___________
At 31 December 2014/  
	 1 January 2015	 23,839,582	 1,280,021	 3,609,402	 1,725,857	 24,647,025	 106,536,379	 71,393,545	 4,947,174	 237,978,985
Additions	 -	 -	 -	 63,695	 1,693,891	 3,716,350	 505,000	 8,452,060	 14,430,996
Disposals	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (   2,589,557)	 (       275,799)	 (  1,265,622)	 -	 (    4,130,978)
Write-offs	 -	 -	 -	 (        47,723)	 -	 (       340,291)	 -	 -	 (       388,014)
Reclassified from  
	 investment properties
	 (Note 4)	 3,199,354	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 1,824,716	 5,024,070
                                             _________________________________________________________________________________________________   ___________
At 31 December 2015	 27,038,936	 1,280,021	 3,609,402	 1,741,829	 23,751,359	 109,636,639	 70,632,923	 15,223,950	 252,915,059
                                                                       ====	=========================================================================================    ============

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 2014	 530,549	 361,592	 911,066	 1,211,969	 10,029,433	 50,980,536	 46,928,890	 -	 110,954,035
Depreciation for the 	
	 year (Note 3.3)	 151,669	 25,469	 76,856	 115,870	 1,473,645	 6,065,564	 1,920,874	 -	 9,829,947
Disposals	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (      671,613)	 (         50,492)	 (  1,895,247)	 -	 (    2,617,352)
Write-offs	 -	 -	 -	 (        29,553)	 (      282,421)	 (       141,930)	 -	 -	 (       453,904)	
                                             _________________________________________________________________________________________________   ___________
At 31 December 2014/
1 January 2015	 682,218	 387,061	 987,922	 1,298,286	 10,549,044	 56,853,678	 46,954,517	 -	 117,712,726
Depreciation for the 									       
	 year (Note 3.3)	 211,563	 25,470	 76,856	 105,569	 1,577,476	 6,351,075	 1,906,245	 -	 10,254,254
Disposals	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (  1,215,356)	 (       126,470)	 (  1,011,896)	 -	 (   2,353,722)
Write-offs	 -	 -	 -	 (        44,551)	 -	 (       207,372)	 -	 -	 (      251,923)	
Reclassified from
	 investment properties
	 (Note 4)	 119,789	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 119,789
                                             _________________________________________________________________________________________________   ___________
At 31 December 2015	 1,013,570	 412,531	 1,064,778	 1,359,304	 10,911,164	 62,870,911	 47,848,866	 -	 125,481,124
                                                                       ====	=========================================================================================    ============

Carrying amounts

At 31 December 2014	 23,157,364	 892,960	 2,621,480	 427,571	 14,097,981	 49,682,701	 24,439,028	 4,947,174	 120,266,259
                                                                       ====	=========================================================================================    ============

At 31 December 2015	 26,025,366	 867,490	 2,544,624	 382,525	 12,840,195	 46,765,728	 22,784,057	 15,223,950	 127,433,935
                                                                       ====	=========================================================================================    ============
	

3.	 Property, plant and equipment 
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		 Leasehold land				    Plant,
	 (unexpired	 (unexpired		  Furniture		  machinery	 Vessels	 Assets
	 lease term	 lease term		  and	 Motor	 and	 and	 under
	 > 50 years)	 < 50 years)	 Buildings	 fittings	 vehicles	 equipment	 wharf	 construction	 Total
Company	 RM	 RM	 RM	 RM	 RM	 RM	 RM	 RM	 RM
		
Cost

At 1 January 2014	 15,015,276	 1,280,021	 3,609,402	 1,634,768	 22,636,674	 101,310,558	 73,652,592	 5,797,612	 224,936,903  
Additions	 -	 -	 -	 83,443	 3,129,020	 5,167,587	 -	 1,502,325	 9,882,375
Disposals	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (      809,069)	 (      104,804)	 (  2,259,047)	 (   2,352,763)	 (    5,525,683)
Write-offs	 -	 -	 -	 (      36,133)	 (      611,620)	 (      148,706)	 -	 -	 (       796,459)
                                             _________________________________________________________________________________________________   ___________
At 31 December 2014/
	 1 January 2015	 15,015,276	 1,280,021	 3,609,402	 1,682,078	 24,345,005	 106,224,635	 71,393,545	 4,947,174	 228,497,136 
Additions	 -	 -	 -	 59,378	 1,693,891	 3,705,044	 505,000	 2,676,171	 8,639,484
Disposals	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (   2,589,557)	 (      275,799)	 (  1,265,622)	 -	 (    4,130,978)
Write-offs	 -	 -	 -	 (      47,723)	 -	 (      338,231)	 -	 -	 (       385,954)
                                             _________________________________________________________________________________________________   ___________
At 31 December 2015	 15,015,276	 1,280,021	 3,609,402	 1,693,733	 23,449,339	 109,315,649	 70,632,923	 7,623,345	 232,619,688
                                                                       ====	=========================================================================================    ============

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 2014	 530,549	 361,592	 911,067	 1,189,358	 9,859,827	 50,795,285	 46,928,889	 -	 110,576,567
Depreciation for the	
	 year (Note 3.3)	 151,669	 25,469	 76,856	 112,605	 1,458,460	 6,037,229	 1,920,874	 -	 9,783,162
Disposals	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (      671,613) 	 (        48,725)	 (  1,895,247)	 -	 (    2,615,585)
Write-offs	 -	 -	 -	 (      29,553)	 (      282,421)	 (      128,010)	 -	 -	 (       439,984)
                                             _________________________________________________________________________________________________   ___________
At 31 December 2014/
	 1 January 2015	 682,218	 387,061	 987,923	 1,272,410	 10,364,253	 56,655,779	 46,954,516	 -	 117,304,160

Depreciation for the	
	 year (Note 3.3)	 151,669	 25,470	 76,856	 102,049	 1,562,290	 6,320,310	 1,906,245	 -	 10,144,889
Disposals	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (   1,215,356)	 (      126,470)	 (  1,011,896)	 -	 (   2,353,722)
Write-offs	 -	 -	 -	 (       44,551)	 -	 (      206,125)	 -	 -	 (      250,676)
                                             _________________________________________________________________________________________________   ___________
At 31 December 2015	 833,887	 412,531	 1,064,779	 1,329,908	 10,711,187	 62,643,494	 47,848,865	 -	 124,844,651
                                                                       ====	=========================================================================================    ============

Carrying amounts

At 31 December 2014	 14,333,058	 892,960	 2,621,479	 409,668	 13,980,752	 49,568,856	 24,439,029	 4,947,174	 111,192,976
                                                                       ====	=========================================================================================    ============

At 31 December 2015	 14,181,389	 867,490	 2,544,623	 363,825	 12,738,152	 46,672,155	 22,784,058	 7,623,345	 107,775,037
                                                                       ====	=========================================================================================    ============

3.	 Property, plant and equipment (continued)
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3.	 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

	 3.1	 Buildings costing RM534,398 (2014: RM534,398) of the Company are built on land leased from a related party.

	 3.2	 No amortisation was provided on a parcel of leasehold land of the Group costing RM8,824,306 acquired in year 2011 as the 
title of the land is in the process of being issued to the Group, hence details of  lease term of the title is still unknown and the 
lease term undetermined.

	 3.3	 Depreciation for the financial year is allocated as follows:

	 Group	 Company
				    2015	 2014	 2015	 2014	
				    RM	 RM	 RM	 RM

		  Recognised in administrative expenses 		  825,293	 754,433	 726,935	 722,221
		  Recognised in contract cost (Note 9.2)		  9,417,954	 9,060,941	 9,417,954	 9,060,941
				    ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------
		  Recognised in profit and loss (Note 16)		  10,243,247	 9,815,374	 10,144,889	 9,783,162
		  Capitalised in property development cost (Note 7)		  11,007	 14,573	 -	 -
				    ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------
						      10,254,254	 9,829,947	 10,144,889	 9,783,162
					     ============	 ============	 ============	 ============

4.	 Investment properties - Group

		  Leasehold 
		  land with
		  unexpired term 	 Asset under
		  more than 50 years	 construction 	 Total
	 Group	 RM	 RM	 RM 

	 Cost
	 At 1 January 2014	 12,689,531	 179,562	 12,869,093
	 Additions	 242,871	 1,645,154	 1,888,025
		  ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------
	 At 31 December 2014/1 January 2015	 12,932,402	 1,824,716	 14,757,118
	 Reclassified to property, plant and equipment (Note 3)	 (   3,199,354)	 (   1,824,716)	 (   5,024,070)
		  ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------
	 At 31 December 2015	 9,733,048	 -	 9,733,048
		  ============	 ============	 ============
	 Accumulated depreciation
	 At 1 January 2014	 154,657	 -	 154,657
	 Amortisation for the year	 421,002	 -	 421,002
		  ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------
	 At 31 December 2014/1 January 2015	 575,659	 -	 575,659
	 Amortisation for the year	 363,056	 -	 363,056
	 Reclassified to property, plant and equipment (Note 3)	 (      119,789)	 -	 (      119,789)
		  ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------
	 At 31 December 2015	 818,926	 -	 818,926
		  ============	 ============	 ============
	 Carrying amounts
	 At 31 December 2014	 12,356,743	 1,824,716	 14,181,459	

	 ============	 ============	 ============	
	 At 31 December 2015	 8,914,122	 -	 8,914,122
		  ============	 ============	 ============	
	 Fair value
	 At 31 December 2014	 12,875,284	 1,824,716	 14,700,000
		  ============	 ============	 ============	
	 At 31 December 2015	 10,700,000	 -	 10,700,000
		  ============	 ============	 ============	
	
	 The fair value of the investment properties of the Group as at 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2015 has been derived based 

on the Director’s estimation without involvement of any independent valuers using sales comparison method, whereby the sales 
price is compared to the land in close proximity, adjusted for differences in key attributes such as property size. The fair value of 
investment properties is categorised as Level 3.
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4.	 Investment properties – Group (continued)

	 Level 3 fair value

	 The following table shows a reconciliation of level 3 fair values:

							       Group
						      2015	 2014
						      RM	 RM
 
	 At 1 January				    14,700,000	 12,900,000
	 Additions					    1,000,000	 1,800,000
	 Reclassification				    (    5,000,000)	 -
							       ------------------------	 ------------------------
	 At 31 December				    10,700,000	 14,700,000
							       ============	 ============

5.	 Investment in subsidiaries

							       Company
						      2015	 2014
						      RM	 RM
 
	 Unquoted shares, at cost				    146,600,000	 126,500,000
							       ============	 ============

	 On 26 August 2015, the Company subscribed additional 200,000 new preference shares of RM1.00 each at premium of RM99.00 
per share totalling RM20,000,000 in HSL Land Sdn. Bhd. in cash.

	 On 30 October 2015, the Company subscribed to 100% of the issued and paid up capital of HSL Management Services Sdn. Bhd. 
in cash.

	 Details of the subsidiaries, all of which are incorporated in Malaysia, are as follows:

	 				                                     Effective
	 Name of subsidiary	 Principal activities		  ownership interest
						      and voting interest
					     2015	 2014
					     %	 %

	 Hock Seng Lee Construction	 Property development	 100	 100
	   Sendirian Berhad	 and building construction			 

	 HSL Hydro Sdn. Bhd. 	 Presently dormant.	 100	 100
	  			    Its intended activity is 
				    shipyard operation

	 HSL Land Sdn. Bhd. 	 Property investment	 100	 100

	 HSL Management Services Sdn. Bhd.	 Presently dormant.	
	  			   Its intended activity is general	 100	 -
				    management and maintenance
				    services for the gated and guarded
				    property development projects
				    undertaken by HSL Group.
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6.	 Land held for property development

							       Development
						      Land	 costs	 Total
						      RM	 RM	 RM 
	 Group
	 At 1 January 2014			   141,562,853	 30,550,072	 172,112,925
	 Additions				   -	 10,678,563	 10,678,563
	 Transfer to property development costs (Note 7)			   (    2,610,188)	 (  6,176,956)	 (   8,787,144)
						      ------------------------	 ----------------------	 ------------------------
	 At 31 December 2014/1 January 2015			   138,952,665	 35,051,679	 174,004,344
	 Additions				   -	 11,770,421	 11,770,421
						      ------------------------	 ----------------------	 ------------------------
	 At 31 December 2015			   138,952,665	 46,822,100	 185,774,765
						      ============	 ===========	 ============

	 Company 
	 At 1 January 2014			   56,993,500	 524,422	 57,517,922
	 Additions				   -	 2,609,217	 2,609,217
						      ------------------------	 ----------------------	 ------------------------
	 At 31 December 2014/1 January 2015			   56,993,500	 3,133,639	 60,127,139
	 Additions				   -	 2,741,755	 2,741,755
						      ------------------------	 ----------------------	 ------------------------
	 At 31 December 2015			   56,993,500	 5,875,394	 62,868,894
						      ============	 ===========	 ============

	 Included in the land held for property development as at 31 December 2015 are two (2014: two) parcels of land costing 
RM36,860,680 (2014: RM34,333,338), the titles to which are in the process of being transferred to the Group.

7.	 Property development costs 

						      Accumulated
						      costs charged
					     Development	 to profit
				    Land	 costs	 or loss	 Total
				    RM	 RM	 RM	 RM 

	 Group
	 At 1 January 2014		  13,191,251	 68,816,741	 ( 35,278,016)	 46,729,976
	 Transfer from land held for property development (Note 6)		  2,610,188	 6,176,956	 -	 8,787,144
	 Development costs incurred during the year		  -	 33,068,108	 -	 33,068,108
	 Costs charged to profit or loss		  -	 -	 ( 20,666,013)	 ( 20,666,013)
	 Transfer of completed properties to inventories		  (  2,885,570)	 ( 15,083,777)	 17,526,517	 (      442,830)
				    ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------
	 At 31 December 2014/1 January 2015		  12,915,869	 92,978,028	 ( 38,417,512)	 67,476,385
	
	 Development costs incurred during the year		  -	 44,452,288	 -	 44,452,288
	 Costs charged to profit or loss		  -	 -	 ( 20,984,450)	 ( 20,984,450)
				    ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------
	 At 31 December 2015		  12,915,869	 137,430,316	 ( 59,401,962)	 90,944,223
					     ============	 ============	 ============	 ============

	 Property development costs incurred during the financial year include:

						      2015	 2014
						      RM	 RM

	 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  (Note 3.3)			   11,007	 14,573
	 Hire of equipment			   308,889	 483,153
	 Interest expenses			   7,962	 851
	 Personnel expenses (including key management personnel)
	 - Contributions to state plans 			   99,222	 64,263
	 - Wages, salaries and others			   964,021	 606,568
						      ============	 ============
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8.	 Inventories 

		  Group	  Company
					     2015	 2014	 2015	 2014
					     RM  	 RM	 RM 	 RM 
	
	 At cost	  
	 Consumables		  12,448,539	 12,460,225	 12,446,513	 12,460,225
	 Developed properties held for sale		  936,777	 843,319	 -	 -
				    ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------
					     13,385,316	 13,303,544	 12,446,513	 12,460,225
					     ============	 ============	 ============	 ============

	 Recognised in profit or loss:
	 Inventories recognised as cost of sales		  6,287,219	 2,499,297	 6,029,817	 2,499,297
					     ============	 ============	 ============	 ============

9.	 Trade and other receivables 

		  Group	 Company
					     2015	 2014	 2015	 2014
				    Note	 RM	 RM	 RM	 RM 

	 Trade 
	 Trade receivables		  6,354,863	 3,558,572	 5,374,945	 3,300,779
	 Progress billings receivables	 9.1	 154,390,635	 200,866,209	 148,214,651	 192,488,436
	 Less: Allowance for impairment loss (Note 24.3)		  (      145,000)	 (      389,000)	 (      136,000)	 (      291,000)
					     154,245,635	 200,477,209	 148,078,651	 192,197,436
	 Amount due from contract customers	 9.2	 117,429,189	 56,730,243	 117,429,189	 56,730,243
	 Accrued billings		  7,901,457	 3,061,355	 -	 -
				    ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------
					     285,931,144	 263,827,379	 270,882,785	 252,228,458
				    ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------

	 Non-trade
	 Other receivables		  202,145	 291,413	 182,379	 269,765
	 Amount due from a subsidiary	 9.3	 -	 -	 31,900,000	 -
				    ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------
					     202,145	 291,413	 32,082,379	 269,765
				    ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------
	 Total				   286,133,289	 264,118,792	 302,965,164	 252,498,223
					     ============	 ============	 ============	 ============

	 9.1	 Progress billings receivables
		  Progress billings receivables of the Group and of the Company include retention sums of RM37,107,435 (2014: RM30,113,586) 

receivable from contract customers. 	

		  The retention sums are unsecured, interest-free and are expected to be collected as follows:

	    	       Group and Company
							       2015	 2014
							       RM 	 RM 

		  Within 1 year				    27,554,630	 19,586,538
		  1-2 years				    8,518,799	 8,511,068
		  2-3 years				    1,034,006	 2,015,980
							       --------------------------------	 --------------------------------	

					     37,107,435	 30,113,586
							       ================	 ================	
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9.	 Trade and other receivables (continued)

	 9.2	 Amount due from/to contract customers

	    	 Group and Company
							       2015	 2014
							       RM 	 RM 
				  
		  Aggregate costs incurred to-date				    1,906,947,435	 1,624,451,178
		  Attributable profits 				    377,626,180	 343,082,594
							       --------------------------------	 --------------------------------	

					     2,284,573,615	 1,967,533,772
		  Progress billings				    (  2,183,904,111)	 (  1,975,149,927)
							       --------------------------------	 --------------------------------	

					     100,669,504	 (         7,616,155)
		  Amount due to contract customers (Note 14)				    16,759,685	 64,346,398
							       --------------------------------	 --------------------------------	

Amount due from contract customers				    117,429,189	 56,730,243
							       ================	 ================	

		  Additions to aggregate costs incurred during the financial year include:

	    	       Group and Company
							       2015	 2014
							       RM 	 RM 
						    
		  Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 3.3)			   9,417,954	 9,060,941
		  Hire of equipment				    14,078,254	 14,254,795
		  Rental of premises				    958,246	 786,640
		  Personnel expenses (including key management personnel)
	   	 - Contributions to state plans 				    1,083,716	 1,036,212
	   	 - Wages, salaries and others				    13,031,054	 12,416,491 
							       ================	 ================	

	 9.3	 Amount due from a subsidiary
		  Amount due from a subsidiary is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

10.	 Deposits and prepayments

		  Group	 Company
				    2015	 2014	 2015	 2014
				    RM	 RM	 RM	 RM 
	
	 Deposits 			  2,691,297	 2,053,716	 2,034,048	  1,415,717
	 Prepayments		  4,394,897	 2,048,921	 3,976,110	 2,048,921
					     ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------
					     7,086,194	 4,102,637	  6,010,158	  3,464,638
					     ============	 ============	 ============	 ============

	 Prepayments of the Group and of the Company represent amount paid for purchase of construction materials, which are 
progressively deducted against the physical goods supplied.

11.	 Cash and cash equivalents

		  Group	 Company
				    2015	 2014	 2015	 2014
				    RM	 RM	 RM	 RM 
	
	 Deposits placed with licensed banks with 
	   original maturities not exceeding three months		  32,970,000	 55,490,000	 13,300,000	 52,000,000
	 Cash and bank balances		  61,635,994	 87,586,640	 56,935,617	 84,578,178
					     ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------
					     94,605,994	 143,076,640	 70,235,617	 136,578,178
	 Fixed deposit with original maturities
	   exceeding three months		  346,458	 6,336,204	 346,458	 6,336,204
					     ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------
					     94,952,452	 149,412,844	 70,582,075	 142,914,382
					     ============	 ============	 ============	 ============
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12.	 Capital and reserves

	 12.1	Share capital

			                                                                                                    ----------------------  Group and Company  ----------------------
				    Amount	 Number 	 Amount	 Number
				    RM	 of shares	 RM	 of shares
				    2015  	 2015	 2014	 2014
	 	 Authorised:
		  Ordinary shares of RM0.20 each		  300,000,000	 1,500,000,000	 300,000,000	 1,500,000,000
					     ============	 ==============	 ============	 ==============
		  Issued and fully paid:
		  Ordinary shares of RM0.20 each		  116,535,200	 582,676,000	 116,535,200	 582,676,000
					     ============	 ==============	 ============	 ==============

	 12.2	Capital redemption reserve
		  Capital redemption reserve arose from the cancellation of 2,165,500 treasury shares on 17 November 2003, whereupon an 

amount equivalent to their nominal value was transferred to the reserve.

	 12.3	Treasury shares
		  The shareholders of the Company, at an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 29 November 2001, approved the Company’s 

plan to repurchase its own shares. The mandate was subsequently renewed on a yearly basis. The Directors of the Company 
are committed to enhance the value of the Company to its shareholders and believe that the repurchase plan can be applied 
in the best interest of the Company and its shareholders.

		  The total number of treasury shares held by the Company at 31 December 2015 is 33,158,781 (2014: 33,158,781).

13.	 Deferred tax liabilities

	 Recognised deferred tax
	 Deferred tax (assets)/liabilities are attributable to the following:

		  Assets	 Liabilities	 Net
				    2015	 2014	 2015	 2014	 2015	 2014
	 Group		  RM	 RM	 RM      	 RM	 RM      	 RM

	 Property, plant and equipment	 -	 -	 14,692,300	 16,154,800	 14,692,300	 16,154,800 
	 Financial instruments	 (      797,700)	 (      761,900)	 163,600	 162,600	 (      634,100)	 (     599,300)
	 Others		  (        67,000)	 (        70,000)	 -	 -	 (        67,000)	 (       70,000)
				    ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------
	 Tax (assets)/liabilities	 (      864,700)	 (      831,900)	 14,855,900	 16,317,400	 13,991,200	 15,485,500
	 Set off		  864,700	 831,900	 (      864,700)	(      831,900)	 -	 -
				    ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------
	 Net tax liabilities	 -	 -	 13,991,200	 15,485,500	 13,991,200	 15,485,500
				    ============	 ============	 ============	 ============	 ============	 ============
				  
		  Assets	 Liabilities	 Net	
				    2015	 2014	 2015	 2014	 2015	 2014	
	 Company		 RM      	 RM	 RM	 RM	 RM	 RM

	 Property, plant and equipment	 -	 -	 14,648,000	 16,103,000	 14,648,000	 16,103,000
	 Financial instruments	 (      778,000)	 (      723,000)	 144,000	 142,000	 (      634,000)	 (     581,000)
				    ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------
				    (      778,000)	 (      723,000)	 14,792,000	 16,245,000	 14,014,000	 15,522,000
				    ============	 ============	 ============	 ============	 ============	 ============
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13.	 Deferred tax liabilities (continued)

	 Movements in deferred tax during the year are as follows:

				    Recognised	 At	 Recognised
			   At	 in profit	 31.12.2014/	 in profit	 At
			   1.1.2014	 or loss	 1.1.2015	 or loss	 31.12.2015
			   RM	 RM	 RM	 RM	 RM
	 Group
						    
	 Property, plant and equipment	  16,339,900	 (      185,100)	 16,154,800	 (   1,462,500)	 14,692,300
	 Financial instruments	 (      705,300)	 106,000	 (      599,300)	 (        34,800)	 (     634,100)
	 Others		  (        77,000)	 7,000	 (        70,000)	 3,000	 (       67,000)
				    ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------
				    15,557,600	 (        72,100)	 15,485,500	 (   1,494,300)	 13,991,200
				    ============	 ============	 ============	 ============	 ============
					     (Note 18)		  (Note 18)
	 Company

	 Property, plant and equipment	 16,291,000	 (      188,000)	 16,103,000	 (   1,455,000)	 14,648,000
	 Financial instruments	 (      707,000)	 126,000	 (      581,000) 	 (        53,000)	 (     634,000)
				    ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------
				    15,584,000	 (        62,000)	 15,522,000	 (   1,508,000)	 14,014,000
				    ============	 ============	 ============	 ============	 ============
					     (Note 18)		  (Note 18)

14.	 Trade and other payables

		  Group	 Company
				    2015	 2014	 2015	 2014
				    RM	 RM	 RM	 RM 
	
	 Trade
	 Trade payables		  120,835,053	 125,640,521	 105,136,695	 113,119,423
	 Amount due to contract customers (Note 9.2)		  16,759,685	 64,346,398	 16,759,685	 64,346,398
	 Progress billings		  261,588	 131,070	 -	 -
					     ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------
					     137,856,326	 190,117,989	 121,896,380	 177,465,821

	 Non-trade
	 Other payables		  1,166,112	 -	 1,388,429	 -
	 Accrued expenses		  3,029,714	 2,460,266	 2,763,375	 2,229,825
					     ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------
					     142,052,152	 192,578,255	 126,048,184	 179,695,646
					     ============	 ============	 ============	 ============

	 Included in the amount due to contract customers of the Group and of the Company at 31 December 2015 are advances received 
from a (2014: two) contract customer of RM5,320,939 (2014: RM11,606,994).

15.	 Revenue and cost of sales

		  Group	 Company
				    2015	 2014	 2015	 2014
				    RM	 RM	 RM	 RM 

	 Revenue	
	 -   contract revenue		  622,573,397	 572,767,959	 622,573,397	 572,767,959
	 -   sale of development properties		  32,162,662	 31,953,350	 -	 -
					     ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------
					     654,736,059	 604,721,309	 622,573,397	 572,767,959
					     ============	 ============	 ============	 ============

	 Cost of sales	
	 -   contract costs		  521,280,903	 474,290,895	 521,280,903	 474,290,895
	 -   property development costs		  21,075,476	 20,749,133	 -	 -
					     ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------
					     542,356,379	 495,040,028	 521,280,903	 474,290,895
					     ============	 ============	 ============	 ============
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16.	 Results from operating activities

		  Group	 Company
				    2015	 2014	 2015	 2014
				    RM  	 RM	 RM 	 RM 

	 Result from operating activities is arrived at after charging:
	
	 Auditors’ remuneration 
	 -   statutory audit		  110,000	 101,000	 76,000	 70,000
  	 -   non audit fee
		  -  KPMG		  12,000	 12,000	 12,000	 12,000
		  -  Local affiliate of KPMG		  13,100	 12,815	 8,000	 7,875
	 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 3.3)		  10,243,247	 9,815,374	 10,144,889	 9,783,162
	 Depreciation of investment properties (Note 4)		  363,056	 421,002	 -	 -
	 Impairment loss on trade receivables 		  -	 32,000	 -	 -
	 Personnel expenses (including key management personnel):	
	 -   Contributions to state plans		  1,825,834	 1,720,760	 1,745,237	 1,649,557
	 -   Wages, salaries and others		  21,075,856	 19,520,447	 20,402,284	 18,915,739
	 Property, plant and equipment written off		  136,091	 357,467	 135,278	 356,475
	 Foreign exchange loss
	 -   realised  		  2,936	 4,233	 2,936	 4,233
	 Rental expenses on property leases		  1,074,526	 906,620	 1,057,726	 889,820
					     ============	 ============	 ============	 ============

	 and after crediting: 

	 Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment		  553,345	 2,630,314	 553,345	 2,630,607
	 Hire of vessels, plant and machinery		  1,623,397	 2,918,616	 1,623,397	 2,918,616
	 Rental income from property subleases		  295,500	 250,225	 295,500	 250,225
	 Reversal of impairment loss on receivables		  244,000	 481,000	 155,000	 481,000
					     ============	 ============	 ============	 ============

17.	 Finance income and finance costs

		  Group	 Company
				    2015	 2014	 2015	 2014
				    RM	 RM	 RM	 RM 

	 Recognised in profit or loss

	 Interest income of financial assets that are not at fair 
	   value through profit or loss

	   -   interest-bearing deposits		  2,285,073	 3,731,388	 2,035,758	 3,575,967
	   -   other financial assets 		  1,033,985	 543,594	 1,033,985	 543,594
					     ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------
					     3,319,058	 4,274,982	 3,069,743	 4,119,561
					     ============	 ============	 ============	 ============
	
	 Interest expenses of financial liabilities that are not 
	   at fair value through profit or loss

	   -   other financial liabilities		  376,741	 389,794	 318,142	 313,310
					     ============	 ============	 ============	 ============

18.	 Income tax expense 

	 Recognised in profit or loss

		  Group	 Company
				    2015	 2014	 2015	 2014
				    RM	 RM	 RM	 RM 

	 Current tax expense
	 Malaysian	 -  current year		  26,718,872	 26,376,690	 24,109,000	 23,747,000
				    -  prior year		  (       185,569)	 (         79,520)	 (       183,565)	 (         77,715)

					     26,533,303	 26,297,170	 23,925,435	 23,669,285
	 Deferred tax (income)/expense (Note 13)
  	 -  current year		  (    1,482,300)	 (       112,800)	 (    1,496,000)	 (       102,000)
  	 -  prior year		  (         12,000)	 40,700	 (         12,000)	 40,000

					     (    1,494,300)	 (         72,100)	 (    1,508,000)	 (         62,000)
					     ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------
	 Total income tax expense		  25,039,003	 26,225,070	 22,417,435	 23,607,285
					     ============	 ============	 ============	 ============
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18.	 Income tax expense (continued)

	 Reconciliation of tax expense

		  Group	 Company
				    2015	 2014	 2015	 2014
				    RM	 RM	 RM	 RM 
					   
	 Profit for the year		  76,197,995	 76,927,005	 68,793,160	 69,545,055
	 Total income tax expense		  25,039,003	 26,225,070	 22,417,435	 23,607,285
					     ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------
	 Profit excluding tax		  101,236,998	 103,152,075	 91,210,595	 93,152,340
					     ============	 ============	 ============	 ============

	 Income tax at 25% (2014: 25%)*		  25,309,000	 25,788,000	 22,803,000	 23,288,000
	 Non-deductible expenses		  548,872	 475,890	 430,000	 357,000
	 Effect of tax rate change		  (        621,300)	 -	 (        620,000)	 -
					     ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------
					     25,236,572	 26,263,890	 22,613,000	 23,645,000
	 Over-provision in prior years		  (        197,569)	 (          38,820)	 (        195,565)	 (         37,715)
					     ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------
	 Total tax expense 		  25,039,003	 26,225,070	 22,417,435	 23,607,285
					     ============	 ============	 ============	 ============

	 *	 In the Malaysian Budget 2014, it was announced that corporate income tax rate will be reduced to 24% for year of assessment 
2016 onwards (“YA2016”). Consequently, any temporary differences expected to be reversed in YA 2016 onwards are 
measured using this rate.

19.	 Earnings per ordinary share 

	 Basic earnings per ordinary share
	 The calculation of basic earnings per ordinary share at 31 December 2015 was based on the profit attributable to ordinary 

shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding, as follows:

		  Group
						      2015	 2014
						      RM	 RM		

	

	 Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders				    76,197,995	 76,927,005
							       ============	 ============
	 Weighted average number of ordinary shares
						      2015	 2014
	 Issued ordinary shares at beginning of year 				    582,676,000	 582,676,000 
	 Less: cumulative effect of treasury shares bought back in previous years			   (  33,158,781)	 (  32,319,481)
							       549,517,219	 550,356,519
	 Adjust for effect of ordinary shares purchased during the year:
	 -   January				    -	 (      258,800)
	 -   March					     -	 (      273,700)
	 -   October				    -	 (        32,000)
							       ------------------------	 ------------------------
	 Weighted average number of ordinary shares at end of year				   549,517,219	 549,792,019
							       ============	 ============

	 Basic earnings per ordinary share (sen)				    13.87	 13.99
							       ============	 ============
	
20.	 Dividends 

	 Dividends recognised by the Company comprise:
						      Total	
					     Sen	 amount	 Date of 
					     per share	 RM	 payment
	 2015	
	 Final 2014 ordinary		  1.60	 8,792,268	 23 June 2015
	 Interim 2015 ordinary		  1.00	 5,495,172	 8 October 2015
						      ----------------------
						      14,287,440
						      ===========
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20.	 Dividends (continued)

	 Dividends recognised by the Company comprise:
						      Total	
					     Sen	 amount	 Date of 
					     per share	 RM	 payment
	 2014	
	 Final 2013 ordinary		  1.80	 9,894,757	 23 June 2014
	 Interim 2014 ordinary		  1.20	 6,596,502	 8 October 2014
						      ----------------------
						      16,491,259		

				    ===========

	 The Directors are proposing a final single-tier tax exempt dividend of 7% per ordinary share of RM0.20 each totalling RM7,693,241 
in respect of the year ended 31 December 2015, to be paid once approved by shareholders at the forthcoming annual general 
meeting.

21.	 Capital expenditure commitments

		  Group	 Company
				    2015	 2014	 2015	 2014
				    RM	 RM	 RM	 RM 
	
	 Property, plant and equipment

	 -  Contracted but not provided for		  7,452,000	 64,000	 626,000	 64,000
	 -  Authorised but not contracted for		  57,039,000	 75,000,000	 57,039,000	 75,000,000
					     ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------
					     64,491,000	 75,064,000	 57,665,000	 75,064,000
					     ============	 ============	 ============	 ============

22.	 Operating segments 

	 The Group has two reportable segments, as described below, which are the Group’s strategic business units. For each of the strategic 
business units, the Group Managing Director, who is the group chief operating decision maker, reviews internal management 
reports at least on a quarterly basis. The following describes the operations in each of the Group’s reportable segments.

	 Construction	 :    	 Marine and civil engineering works and construction

	 Property development	 :	 Development of residential and commercial properties

	 Performance is measured based on segment profit before tax as included in the internal management reports. Segment profit is 
used to measure performance as management believes that such information is the most relevant in evaluating the results of the 
segments relative to other entities that operate within these industries.

	 The activities of the Group are carried out in Malaysia and as such, segmental reporting by geographical locations is not presented.

	 Segment result, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a 
reasonable basis.
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22.	 Operating segments (continued)
						      Other non-
					     Property	 reportable	 Inter-segment
	 Group		  Construction	 development	 segment	 elimination	 Total
	 2015			  RM	 RM	 RM	 RM	 RM

	 Segment profit

	 Revenue from external customers	 622,573,397	 32,162,662	 -	 -	 654,736,059
				    ============	 ============	 ============	 ============	 ============
	 Segment profit before tax, interest 
	    and depreciation	 98,663,777	 10,295,258	 (          70,909)	 12,858	 108,900,984
	 Depreciation of property, plant and 	
	    equipment (Note 16)	 (  10,204,783)	 (         38,464)	 -	 -	 (  10,243,247)
	 Depreciation of investment properties 
	    (Note 16)	 -	 -	 (        363,056)	 -	 (       363,056)
	 Finance costs (Note 17)	 (       318,142)	 (         58,599)	 -	 -	 (       376,741)
	 Finance income (Note 17)	 3,069,743	 25,078	 224,237	 -	 3,319,058
				    ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------
	 Segment profit/(loss) before tax	 91,210,595	 10,223,273	 (        209,728)	 12,858	 101,236,998
				    ============	 ============	 ============	 ============	 	

Income tax expense					     (  25,039,003)
								        ------------------------
	 Profit for the year					     76,197,995
								        ============

	 Segment assets	 467,878,947	 299,509,077	 47,506,103	 (       269,831)	 814,624,296
				    ============	 ============	 ============	 ============	 ============
	
	 Included in the measurement of 
	   segment assets are:

	 Addition to non-current assets other than 
	   financial instruments and deferred tax
	   assets:
	   -  capital expenditure	 8,639,484	 15,623	 5,775,889	 -	 14,430,996
	   -  land held for property development	 -	 11,770,421	 -	 -	 11,770,421
				    ============	 ============	 ============	 ============	 ============

	 Segment liabilities	 143,921,184	 11,897,708	 993,400	 (         67,000)	 156,745,292
				    ============	 ============	 ============	 ============	 ============

	 Group
	 2014		
	
	 Segment profit

	 Revenue from external customers	 572,767,959	 31,953,350	 -	 -	 604,721,309
				    ============	 ============	 ============	 ============	 ============
	 Segment profit before tax, interest 
	   and depreciation	 99,129,251	 10,357,756	  (          10,389)	 26,645	 109,503,263
	 Depreciation of property, plant and 	
	   equipment (Note 16)	 (    9,783,162)	 (         32,212)	 -	 -	 (    9,815,374)
	 Depreciation of investment properties 
	   (Note 16)	 -	 -	 (        421,002)	 -	 (       421,002)
	 Finance costs (Note 17)	 (       313,310)	 (         76,484)	 -	 -	 (       389,794)
	 Finance income (Note 17)	 4,119,561	 91,911	 63,510	 -	 4,274,982
				    ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------
	 Segment profit/(loss)before tax	 93,152,340	 10,340,971	 (        367,881)	 26,645	 103,152,075
				    ============	 ============	 ============	 ============	
	 Income tax expense					     (  26,225,070)
								        ------------------------
	 Profit for the year					     76,927,005
								        ============
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22.	 Operating segments (continued)

						      Other non-
					     Property	 reportable	 Inter-segment
	 Group		  Construction	 development	 segment	 elimination	 Total
	 2014 (continued)	 RM	 RM	 RM	 RM	 RM
	
	 Segment assets	 522,530,444	 257,824,606	 26,793,903	 (       282,689)	 806,866,264
				    ============	 ============	 ============	 ============	 ============

	 Included in the measurement of 
	   segment assets are:

	 Addition to non-current assets other than 
	   financial instruments and deferred tax
	   assets:				  
	   -  capital expenditure	 9,882,375	 29,755	 -	 -	 9,912,130
	   -  investment properties	 -	 -	 1,888,025	 -	 1,888,025
	   -  land held for property development	 -	 10,678,563	 -	 -	 10,678,563
				    ============	 ============	 ============	 ============	 ============

	 Segment liabilities	 198,336,646	 12,615,396	 15,773	 (         70,000)	 210,897,815
				    ============	 ============	 ============	 ============	 ============

	 Majors customers
	 The following are major customers with revenue equal to or more than 10 percent of the Group revenue:

		  Revenue
						      2015	 2014	 Segment
						      RM	 RM 
	 All common control entities of
	 -  State and Federal Governments			   181,604,088	 212,810,925	 Construction
	 -  Two (2014: two) trade receivables			   201,543,688	 185,166,375	 Construction
						      ============	 ============

23.	 Financial instruments

	 23.1	Categories of financial instruments
		  The table below provides an analysis of financial instruments categorised as follows:

		  (i)	 Loans and receivables (“L&R”); and
		  (ii)	 Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost (“FL”).

								       Carrying	 L&R/
								       amount	 (FL) 
		 2015					     RM	 RM

	 Group

	 Financial assets/(liabilities)
	 Trade and other receivables *				    160,802,643	 160,802,643
	 Cash and cash equivalents				    94,952,452	 94,952,452
	 Trade and other payables *				    ( 123,864,767)	 ( 123,864,767)
							       ============	 ============
	 Company

	 Financial assets/(liabilities)
	 Trade and other receivables *				    185,535,975	 185,535,975
	 Cash and cash equivalents				    70,582,075	 70,582,075
	 Trade and other payables *				    ( 107,900,070)	 ( 107,900,070)
							       ============	 ============
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23.	 Financial instruments (continued)

	 23.1	Categories of financial instruments (continued)

	 							      Carrying	 L&R/
								       amount	 (FL) 
			  2014				    RM	 RM

		  Group

		  Financial assets/(liabilities)
		  Trade and other receivables *				    204,327,194	 204,327,194
		  Cash and cash equivalents				    149,412,844	 149,412,844
		  Trade and other payables *				    ( 128,100,787)	 (  128,100,787)
							       ============	 ============
		  Company

		  Financial assets/(liabilities)
		  Trade and other receivables *				    195,767,980	 195,767,980
		  Cash and cash equivalents				    142,914,382	 142,914,382
		  Trade and other payables *				    ( 115,349,248)	 ( 115,349,248)
							       ============	 ============
		  * Excluding amount due from/to contract customers and accrued/progress billings.

	 23.2	Net gains and losses arising from financial instruments

		  Group	 Company
				    2015	 2014	 2015	 2014
				    RM	 RM	 RM	 RM

		  Loans and receivables		  3,563,058	 4,723,982	 3,224,743	 4,600,561 
		  Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost		  (    379,677)	 (     394,027)	 (     321,078)	 (    317,543)
					     ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------		

				    3,183,381	 4,329,955	 2,903,665	 4,283,018
					     ============	 ============	 ============	 ============

	 23.3	Financial risk management
		  The Group has established a risk management framework with which, and undertake ongoing exercise, to identify, assess 

and manage key financial risks such as credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk.

		  The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

		  •	 Credit risk
		  •	 Liquidity risk
		  •	 Market risk
	
		  (a)	 Credit risk
			   Credit risk is the risk of a financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to 

meet its contractual obligations. The Group’s and the Company’s exposures to credit risk arise principally from their 
receivables from customers. 

			   Most 	of the construction projects undertaken by the Group are government funded. Prior to tendering for construction 
contracts, credit evaluation on potential customers is carried out.

			   The Group’s exposure to credit risk for property development is regarded as low as titles to properties are only transferred 
to purchasers upon full settlement.

			   In addition, the Company’s also has exposure to credit risk arises from loans and advances to a subsidiary and financial 
guarantees given to banks for credit facilities granted to a subsidiary.

			   Receivables 

			   Risk management objectives, policies and procedures

			   •	 Receivables from external parties
				    Management regularly reviews the credit risks of customers and takes appropriate measures to enhance credit 

control procedure.

			   •	 Intercompany balances
				    The Company sometimes provides unsecured loans and advances to a subsidiary. The Company monitors the 

results of the subsidiary regularly.
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23.	 Financial instruments (continued)

	 23.3	Financial risk management (continued)

		  (a)	 Credit risk (continued)

			   Receivables (continued)

			   Exposure to credit risk, credit quality and collateral
			   As at the end of the reporting period, the maximum exposure to credit risk arising from receivable is represented by the 

carrying amount in the statements of financial position.

			   Management has taken reasonable steps to ensure that receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are stated at 
their realisable values. A significant portion of these receivables are regular customers that have been transacting with 
the Group. The Group uses ageing analysis to monitor the credit quality of the receivables.

	
			   As at the end of the reporting period, other than an amount of RM47,354,679 (2014: RM70,835,910) receivable from 

the Government and a state-controlled entity and an amount of RM32,000,000 receivable from a subsidiary, there is no 
other significant concentration of credit risk.

			   The exposure to credit risk is concentrated in Malaysia as the business activities of the Group are carried out locally.

			   Impairment losses
			   The Group maintains an ageing analysis in respect of trade and progress billings receivables only. The ageing of trade 

and progress billings receivables as at the end of the reporting period was:

		  _______Group_______	 ______Company______	
				    2015	 2014	 2015	 2014	
			   Age of debts	 RM	 RM	 RM	 RM

			   Not past due		  130,263,539	 176,125,588	 124,769,567	 172,437,478
			   Past due 0-90 days		  9,618,627	 19,359,310	 8,702,362	 16,611,904
			   Past due 91-180 days		  4,265,766	 2,834,747	 3,891,314	 1,039,419
			   Past due more than 180 days		  16,597,566	 6,105,136	 16,226,353	 5,700,414
					     ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------		

		  160,745,498	 204,424,781	 153,589,596	 195,789,215
			   Less: Allowance for impairment losses 		  (      145,000)	 (      389,000)	 (       136,000)	 (       291,000)
					     ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------		

Total (see Note 9)		  160,600,498	 204,035,781	 153,453,596	 195,498,215
					     ============	 ============	 ============	 ============

			   The movements in the allowance for impairment losses of trade receivables during the year were:

						      Group	 Company
						      RM	 RM
		
			   At 1 January 2014				    838,000	 772,000
			   Impairment loss recognised				    32,000	 -
			   Impairment loss reversed				    (       481,000)	 (       481,000)
							       ------------------------	 ------------------------
			   At 31 December 2014/1 January 2015  				    389,000	 291,000

			   Impairment loss reversed				    (       244,000)	 (       155,000)
							       ------------------------	 ------------------------
			   At 31 December 2015				    145,000	 136,000
							       ============	 ============	
		
			   An allowance account in respect of trade receivables is used to record impairment losses. Unless the Group is satisfied 

that recovery of the amount is possible, the amount considered irrecoverable is written off against the receivables 
directly.

			   Financial guarantees

			   Risk management objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk
			   The Company provides unsecured financial guarantee to banks in respect of banking facilities granted to a subsidiary. 
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23.	 Financial instruments (continued)

	 23.3	 Financial risk management (continued)

		  (a)	 Credit risk (continued)

			   Receivables (continued)

			   Financial guarantees (continued)

		  	 Risk management objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk (continued)
			   The Company monitors on an on-going basis the results of the subsidiary and repayments made by the subsidiary. 

			   Exposure to credit risk, credit quality and collateral
			   As at the end of reporting period, the maximum exposure to credit risk amounts to RM1,024,000 (2014: RM900,000) 

representing the banking facilities utilised by the subsidiary as at the end of the reporting period.

			   There was no indication that the subsidiary would default on repayment. The financial guarantees have not been 
recognised since fair value on initial recognition was not material. 

		  (b)	 Liquidity risk
			   Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s 

exposure to liquidity risk arises principally from its various payables.
 
			   The Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by management to ensure, 

as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when they fall due.

			   It is not expected that the cash flows included in the maturity analysis could occur significantly earlier, or at significantly 
different amounts.

		
	 		  Maturity analysis
			   The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s and of the Company’s financial liabilities (which are 

non-derivatives) as at the end of the reporting period based on undiscounted contractual payments:

				    Carrying	 Contractual	 Under	 1-2 	 2-5
				    amount	 cash flows	 1 year	 years	 years
			   2015	 RM	 RM	 RM	 RM	 RM
	
			   Trade and other payables *
			   - Group	 123,864,767	 124,545,801	 118,859,710	 4,009,044	 1,677,047
				   - Company	 107,900,070	 108,499,496	 103,567,260	 3,454,486	 1,477,750

		  	 Financial guarantees
			   - Company	 -	 7,000,000	 7,000,000	 -	 -
					    ============	 ============	 ============	 ============	 ============

			   2014

			   Trade and other payables *
			   - Group	 128,100,787	 128,748,988	 123,500,065	 2,762,659	 2,486,264
			   - Company	 115,349,248	 115,915,711	 111,435,607	 2,304,565	 2,175,539	

				  
		  	 Financial guarantees
			   - Company	 -	 7,000,000	 7,000,000	 -	 -
					    ============	 ============	 ============	 ============	 ============
			 
			   *	   Excluding amount due to contract customers and progress billings and GST payable to RMCD.
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23.	 Financial instruments (continued)

	 23.3	Financial risk management (continued)

		  (c)	 Market risk
			   Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and other prices that 

will affect the Group’s financial position or cash flows.

			   (i)	 Currency risk
				    The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on purchases that are denominated in a currency other than 

Ringgit Malaysia. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily United States Dollar (USD), Euro (EUR) and 
Singapore Dollar (SGD). The amount of purchase in foreign currency is not significant to the Group.

	
				    The currency risk is managed on a case to case basis and forward exchange contracts are occasionally used to 

hedge certain foreign currency risk.

				    Exposure to foreign currency risk
				    The Group and the Company do not have any outstanding forward foreign exchange contract as at 31 December 

2015.

				    Currency risk sensitivity analysis 
				    The exposure to currency risk is not material and hence, sensitivity analysis is not presented. 

		  	 (ii)	 Interest rate risk
				    The primary interest rate risk to which the Group is exposed to relate to the short term deposits which are of fixed 

rate instruments placed with approved financial institutions. The exposure to a risk of change in their fair value 
due to changes in interest rates would not be significant as the deposits are usually placed for less than three 
months.

				    Exposure to interest rate risk
				    The overdraft facilities of the Group and the Company bear interest ranging from 1.00% to 1.25% (2014: 1.00% 

to 1.25%) per annum above the base lending rate of the lender banks and were not utilised as at the end of the 
reporting period.

				    Deposits placed with licensed banks (see Note 11) bear interest ranging from 2.10% to 3.70% (2014: 2.10% to 
3.63%) per annum.

				    Interest rate risk sensitivity analysis 
				    Management does not expect interest rates for overdraft facilities and deposits placed with licensed banks to 

fluctuate materially in the coming year from the current level. Fixed deposits are not exposed to any interest rate 
fluctuation. As the Company’s exposure to interest rate risk is immaterial, hence does not present the sensitivity 
analysis.

			   (iii)	 Other price risk
				    The Group and the Company do not have any investment in equity securities as at the end of the reporting period 

and are therefore not exposed to any other price risk.

	 23.4	Fair value information
		  The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents and short term receivables and payables reasonably approximate their 

fair value due to the relatively short term nature of these financial instruments.

24.	 Capital management

	 The Group’s objectives when managing capital is to maintain a strong capital base and safeguard the Group’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, so as to maintain investors, creditors and markets confidence and to sustain the future development of the 
business. The Directors monitor and are determined to maintain an optimal debt-to-equity ratio that complies with debt covenants 
and regulatory requirements. 

	 There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the year.
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25.	 Related parties
	
	 Identity of related parties
	 For the purposes of these financial statements, parties are considered to be related to the Group if the Group or the Company has 

the ability, directly or indirectly, to control or jointly control the parties or exercise significant influence over the parties in making 
financial and operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the Group or the Company and the parties are subject to common 
control. Related parties may be individuals or other entities.

	 Related parties also include 	key management personnel defined as those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, 
directing and controlling the activities of the Group either directly or indirectly. The key management personnel include all the 
Directors of the Group and certain members of senior management of the Group.

	 The Group has related party relationship with substantial shareholders and key management personnel.	

	 Significant related party transactions
	 Related party transactions have been entered into the normal course of business under normal trade terms. The significant related 

party transactions of the Group and the Company are shown below:

	 					     2015	 2014
	 Group				    RM	 RM

	 Related parties *
	 Income on hiring vessels, plant and machinery				    (      958,710)	 (    2,020,795)
	 Purchase of motor vehicles and machinery				    636,000	 1,052,300
	 Purchase of consumables and raw materials				    36,853,464	 32,984,672
	 Piling and geotechnical works				    1,518,375	 7,102,923
	 Repair and maintenance services				    143,879	 796,098
	 Hire of plant and machinery and vessels 				    3,769,311	 4,055,176
	 Rental of premises				    78,000	 78,000
	 Freight and handling charges				    593,903	 479,020
							       ============	 ============
	
	 Balances owing to related parties at the end of the reporting period			   29,791,678	 22,907,613
							       ============	 ============

	 Company	

	 Related parties (excluding subsidiaries)*
	 Income on hiring vessels, plant and machinery				    (      958,710)	 (   2,020,795)
	 Purchase of motor vehicles and machinery				    636,000	 1,052,300
	 Purchase of consumables and raw materials				    33,987,185	 29,744,815
	 Piling and geotechnical works				    1,518,375	 7,102,923
	 Repair and maintenance services				    137,521	 765,913
	 Hire of plant and machinery and vessels 				    3,623,502	 3,949,079
	 Rental of premises				    66,000	 66,000
	 Freight and handling charges				    556,633	 445,810
							       ============	 ============

	 Balances owing to related parties at the end of the reporting period			   26,476,141	 20,785,949
							       ============	 ============
			 
	 *	 Consisting of companies controlled by/or connected to certain substantial shareholders and/or Directors of the Group and 

the Company.
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25.	 Related parties (continued)
		  Group	 Company
				    2015	 2014	 2015	 2014
				    RM  	 RM	 RM 	 RM 
	 Key management personnel

	 Directors
	 -  Fees			   194,700	 194,700	 194,700	 194,700
	 -  Remuneration		  2,843,200	 2,338,062	 2,843,200	 2,338,062
	 -  Contributions to state plans		  540,208	 464,355	 540,208	 464,355
	 -  Other short-term employee benefits*		  61,088	 72,852	 61,088	 72,852
					     --------------------	 --------------------	 --------------------	 --------------------
					     3,639,196	 3,069,969	 3,639,196	 3,069,969 
	 Other key management personnel
	 -  Short-term employee benefits		  3,706,250	 3,560,256	 3,320,411	 3,222,586
					     --------------------	 --------------------	 --------------------	 --------------------
					     7,345,446	 6,630,225	 6,959,607	 6,292,555
					     ==========	 ==========	 ==========	 ==========

	 *	 These include the estimated monetary value of benefits-in-kind enjoyed by the Directors.

	 Other key management personnel comprise persons, other than the Directors of Group entities, having authority and responsibility 
for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the entity either directly or indirectly.

	 Related party transactions were effected based on negotiated terms and all amounts outstanding at the end of the reporting period 
are unsecured and expected to be settled in cash.

26.	 Material litigation 
	 On 11 September 2015, the Company (HSL) had filed a Writ of Summons to the High Court Kuching against the relevant 

defendants. 

	 The Writ sought a declaration that the announcements made by HSL to Bursa Malaysia (Kuala Lumpur Stock Exchange then) on 10 
November 1998 were valid and proper consequent to the 1st Defendant’s disclosures to the relevant authorities on 9 November 
1998 pertaining to the disposal of all the 1st  Defendant’s shares in Hock Seng Lee Enterprise Sdn Bhd, (HSLE) (the holding 
company of HSL) and ceasing to be a substantial shareholder of HSLE and that the 1st Defendant no longer has any deemed 
interest in HSL.

	 The Writ also sought a declaration that all the defendants are estopped from claiming the existence of a purported trust and that 
the two statutory declarations made by two other defendants, namely the 3rd and 4th Defendants in 2013 premised on that 
alleged purported trust to say that they were holding the HSLE shares in trust for the 1st Defendant and the subsequent transfer of 
the shares of HSLE from them to the 1st Defendant in 2013 premised on that alleged purported trust was unlawful, ultra vires and/
or illegal and therefore null and void.

	 The ongoing litigation described above is not expected to have any material effect on HSL’s earnings per share, net assets per share, 
gearing, share capital or substantial shareholders’ shareholdings for the financial year ended 31 December 2015. Moreover, the 
Board upon professional advice is confident that the Company has a strong case.

	 On 9 March 2016, the Kuching High Court has struck out the action upon application by the defendants. The Board had sought 
advice from its legal counsel and the notice of appeal has been filed on 11 March 2016 in the Court of Appeal of Malaysia.



62>> 63 <<

27.	 Supplementary financial information on the breakdown of realised and unrealised profit or losses

	 The breakdown of the retained earnings of the Group and of the Company at 31 December, into realised and unrealised profits or 
losses, pursuant to paragraphs 2.06 and 2.23 of Bursa Malaysia Main Market Listing Requirements, are as follows:

		  Group	 Company
				    2015	 2014	 2015	 2014
				    RM	 RM	 RM	 RM

	 Total retained earnings
	 -  Realised		  592,270,264	 532,130,751	 499,476,494	 446,650,788
	 -  Unrealised		  (  14,963,175)	 (  16,721,359)	 (  14,991,583)	 (  16,671,597)
					     ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------		

				    577,307,089	 515,409,392	 484,484,911	 429,979,191
	 Less: Consolidation adjustments 		  (      269,831)	 (      282,689)	 -	 -
				    ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	 ------------------------	
	 Total retained earnings		  577,037,258	 515,126,703	 484,484,911	 429,979,191
				    ============	 ============	 ============	 ============

	 The determination of realised and unrealised profits or losses is based on the Guidance on Special Matter No. 1, Determination 
of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context of Disclosures Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing 
Requirements, issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants on 20 December 2010.
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Statement by Directors pursuant to Section 169(15) of the Companies Act, 1965

In the opinion of the Directors, 

a)	 the financial statements set out on pages 26 to 61 are drawn up in accordance with Financial Reporting Standards and the 
requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia, so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and 
of the Company as of 31 December 2015 and of their financial performance and cash flows for the financial year then ended, and

b)	 the information set out in Note 27 on page 62 to the financial statements has been compiled in accordance with the Guidance on 
Special Matter No. 1, Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context of Disclosures Pursuant to Bursa 
Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing Requirements, issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants, and presented based on the 
format prescribed by Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the Directors:

…………………………….
Dato Yu Chee Hoe

…………………………….
Lau Kiing Kang

Kuching,

Date: 31 March 2016

Statutory declaration pursuant to Section 169(16) of the Companies Act, 1965

I, Augustine Law Sek Hian, the officer primarily responsible for the financial management of Hock Seng Lee Berhad, do solemnly and 
sincerely declare that the financial statements set out on pages 26 to 62 are, to the best of my knowledge and belief, correct and I make 
this solemn declaration conscientiously believing the same to be true, and by virtue of the provisions of the Statutory Declarations Act, 
1960.

Subscribed and solemnly declared by the abovenamed 
in Kuching in the State of Sarawak 
on 31 March 2016	 ..................................................
	 Augustine Law Sek Hian

Before me:
 
Pesuruhjaya Sumpah Malaysia
Tang King Hung
No. Q 019
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Independent Auditors’ Report To The Members Of Hock Seng Lee Berhad 

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the financial statements of Hock Seng Lee Berhad, which comprise the statements of financial position as at 31 
December 2015 of the Group and of the Company, and statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, changes in equity 
and cash flows of the Group and of the Company for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information, as set out on pages 26 to 61.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of financial statements so as to give a true and fair view in accordance 
with Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia. The Directors are also responsible 
for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance 
with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The 
procedures selected depend on our judgement, including the assessment of risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of 
financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating 
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as of 31 
December 2015 and of their financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Financial Reporting 
Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia, we also report the following:

a)	 In our opinion, the accounting and other records and the registers required by the Act to be kept by the Company and its 
subsidiaries have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

b)	 We are satisfied that the accounts of the subsidiaries that have been consolidated with the Company’s financial statements are 
in form and content appropriate and proper for the purposes of the preparation of the financial statements of the Group and we 
have received satisfactory information and explanations required by us for those purposes.

c)	 Our audit reports on the accounts of the subsidiaries did not contain any qualification or any adverse comment made under 
Section 174(3) of the Act.

Other Reporting Responsibilities

Our audit was made for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements taken as a whole. The information set out in 
Note 27 of page 62 to the financial statements has been compiled by the Company as required by the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad 
Listing Requirements and is not required by the Financial Reporting Standards. We have extended our audit procedures to report on 
the process of compilation of such information. In our opinion, the information has been properly compiled, in all material respects, 
in accordance with the Guidance on Special Matter No. 1, Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context 
of Disclosures Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing Requirements, issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants and 
presented based on the format prescribed by Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

Other Matters

This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 174 of the Companies Act, 1965 in 
Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other person for the content of this report.

KPMG					   Nicholas Chia Wei Chit
Firm Number: AF 0758(J)		 Approval Number: 3102/03/18 (J)
Chartered Accountants		 Chartered Accountant

Kuching,

Date: 31 March 2016
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LIST OF TOP 10 PROPERTIES as at 31 December 2015

No Location	 Land area 
(acres)

Tenure / Date 
lease expires

Usage Book Value 
(RM’000)

Year of 
acquisition

1 Lot 893 Block 14  
Muara Tuang Land District Sarawak

193.2 Leasehold/        
05/06/2066

Commercial/ 
residential  

development

104,062 2006

2 Lots 3588, 3589, 3590, 3591, 3592, 
3601, 3626, 3627, 2924 & 2926 Block 12 
Muara Tebas Land District Sarawak

84.0 Leasehold/             
14/05/2111

Industrial 
development

34,317 2012

3 Blocks 2 & 3 of Lot 7077 Block 9
Salak Land District Sarawak

275.5 Leasehold/             
08/04/2098

Commercial/ 
residential  

development

33,905 2012

4 Lots 30, 44 & 83 Block 12 and
Lots 3612-3613, 3615, 4282 & 4922 and 
Part of Lots 3614, 4276-4277 & 4283 
Muara Tebas Land District Sarawak

56.8 Leasehold/             
08/08/2109

Industrial 
development

28,552 2010

5 Lots 3583-3584, 4279, 4281 & 4284 and 
Part of Lots 3614, 4276-4277 & 4283                                                        
Muara Tebas Land District Sarawak

37.1 Leasehold/             
08/08/2109

Workshop & 
stockyard for 

own use

14,181 2010

6 Lot 7084 Block 9 
Salak Land District Sarawak

39.2 Leasehold/        
08/04/2098

Residential  
development

13,599 2005

7 Lots 4570-4763, 4767, 5280, 
5285-5287 & 5289  Block 225 
Kuching North Land District Sarawak

37.8 Leasehold/        
20/08/2066

Mixed 
development

9,289 2006

8 Lot 1781 Block 216 
Kuching North Land District Sarawak

4.7 Leasehold/ 
31/12/2038

Residential 
development

9,187 2002

9 Lot 1572 Block 12                                      
Buan Land District Sarawak

47.3 Leasehold/        
23/07/2068

Shipyard & 
workshop for 

own use

8,824 2011

10 Part of Lots 501 & 874 Block 83    
Kuching Central Land District Sarawak

8.19 Leasehold/        
31/12/2048

Commercial  
development

8,691 2000
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SHAREHOLDING ANALYSIS as at 31 March 2016

A	 held through RHB Capital Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
B	 held through himself and DB (Malaysia) Nominee (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
C	 held through himself and Kenanga Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
D	 held through Citigroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
E	 held through himself and CIMSEC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
*	 Deemed interested by virtue of his substantial shareholding in Hock Seng Lee Enterprise Sdn Bhd
#	 Shares held by their respective spouses

Size of holdings
Number of 

shareholders/ 
depositors

Percentage of 
shareholders/ 

depositors

Number of shares 
held

Percentage of 
issued capital

Less than 100
100 – 1,000
1,001 – 10,000
10,001 – 100,000
100,001 – less than 5% of issued shares
5% and above of issued shares

891
473

2,274
1,091

167
3

18.19
9.65

46.42
22.27

3.41
0.06

33,465
285,858

10,528,500
28,740,871

119,945,104
389,983,421

0.01
0.05
1.91
5.23

21.83
70.97

TOTAL 4,899 100.00 549,517,219 100.00

Authorised share capital	 :  	 RM300,000,000 divided into 1,500,000,000 ordinary shares of RM0.20 each
Issued and paid-up capital	 :	 RM116,535,200 comprising 582,676,000 ordinary shares of RM0.20 each
Class of shares		  :	 Ordinary Shares of RM0.20 each
Voting rights		  :	 One (1) vote per ordinary share
No. of treasury shares held	 :	 33,158,781 ordinary shares

ANALYSIS BY SIZE OF HOLDINGS

Direct interests Indirect interests

No. of shares % No. of shares %

Hock Seng Lee Enterprise Sdn Bhd
Datuk Yii Chi Hau A

Dato Yu Chee Hoe B

Yii Chee Sing C

Estate of Late Yu Chee Lieng
AmanahRaya Trustees Berhad
-  Amanah Saham Bumiputera
Employees Provident Fund Board D

321,267,207
73

1,367,697
694,942

-
36,000,000

36,716,214

58.46
0.00
0.25
0.13

-
6.55

6.68

-
58.46
58.46
58.46
58.46

-

-

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
as shown in the Register of Substantial Shareholders

Direct interests Indirect interests

No. of shares % No. of shares %

Dato Yu Chee Hoe B

Lau Kiing Kang E

Yii Chee Sing C

Lau Kiing Yiing
Tony Yu Yuong Wee
Dato’ Idris Bin Buang
Dato’ Mohd. Nadzir Bin Mahmud
Dr Chou Chii Ming
Tuan Hj Abang Kashim Bin Abang Morshidi

1,367,697
1,117,269

694,942
287,150

-
-
-

124,848
-

0.25
0.20
0.13
0.05

-
-
-

0.02
-

58.46
0.07

58.46
0.07

-
-
-
-
-

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
as shown in the Register of Directors’ Interests

	 -
	 321,267,207*
	 321,267,207*
	 321,267,207*
	 321,267,207*
	 -

	 -

	 321,267,207*
	 399,513#
	 321,267,207*
	 396,160#
	 -
	 -
	 -
	 -
	 -
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TOP 30 SECURITIES ACCOUNT HOLDERS
	                                                                                                                                                                
		  No. of	 Holdings 	

Name	 Shares Held	 %

1	 HOCK SENG LEE ENTERPRISE SENDIRIAN BERHAD	 321,267,207	 58.46

2	 AMANAHRAYA TRUSTEES BERHAD – AMANAH SAHAM BUMIPUTERA 	 36,000,000	 6.55

3	 CITIGROUP NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD – EMPLOYEES PROVIDENT FUND 	 32,716,214	 5.95
	 BOARD	

4	 MALAYSIA NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SENDIRIAN BERHAD – GREAT EASTERN LIFE 	 8,502,200	 1.55
	 ASSURANCE (MALAYSIA) BERHAD (DR)	

5	 RHB NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD – PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR 	 8,060,000	 1.47
	 YII CHEE MING	

6	 CITIGROUP NOMINEES (ASING) SDN BHD – EXEMPT AN FOR CITIBANK NEW YORK 	 5,670,000	 1.03
	 (NORGES BANK 14)	

7	 MALAYSIA NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SENDIRIAN BERHAD – GREAT EASTERN LIFE 	 4,042,300	 0.74
	 ASSURANCE (MALAYSIA) BERHAD (LEEF) 	

8	 CITIGROUP NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD – EMPLOYEES PROVIDENT FUND 	 4,000,000	 0.73
	 BOARD (NOMURA)	

9	 KENANGA INVESTMENT BANK BERHAD – IVT (NAGA 8-DO)	 3,470,500	 0.63

10	 CITIGROUP NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD – EXEMPT AN FOR AIA BHD. 	 3,298,700	 0.60

11	 MALAYSIA NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SENDIRIAN BERHAD – GREAT EASTERN LIFE 	 2,742,200	 0.50
	 ASSURANCE (MALAYSIA) BERHAD (LBF) 	

12	 RICHARD YU YUONG HUI	 2,721,600	 0.50

13	 CARTABAN NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD – RHB TRUSTEES BERHAD FOR 	 2,180,200	 0.40
	 MANULIFE INVESTMENT SHARIAH PROGRESSFUND	

14	 MAYBANK NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD – ETIQA TAKAFUL BERHAD (ANNUITY 	 2,109,000	 0.38
	 PIF EQ)	

15	 MAYBANK NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD – ETIQA INSURANCE BERHAD 	 1,907,100	 0.35
	 (LIFE PAR FUND)	

16	 FRANCIS YU YUONG HOW	 1,829,100	 0.33

17	 HII KIEW HIONG	 1,715,400	 0.31

18	 AMANAHRAYA TRUSTEES BERHAD – AFFIN HWANG GROWTH FUND	 1,645,200	 0.30

19	 MAYBANK NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD – ETIQA INSURANCE BERHAD 	 1,575,000	 0.29
	 (LIFE NON-PAR FD)	

20	 AMANAHRAYA TRUSTEES BERHAD – AMANAH SAHAM NASIONAL	 1,477,500	 0.27

21	 MAYBANK NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD – MAYBANK TRUSTEES BERHAD 
	 FOR MANULIFE INVESTMENT – HW FLEXI FUND (270519)	 1,472,500	 0.27

22	 AMANAHRAYA TRUSTEES BERHAD – PUBLIC ISLAMIC OPPORTUNITIES FUND	 1,445,000	 0.26

23	 MAYBANK NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD – ETIQA INSURANCE BERHAD (PAR 	 1,378,000	 0.25
	 FUND 2)  

24	 MAYBANK NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD – ETIQA INSURANCE BERHAD 	 1,300,000	 0.23
	 (BALANCE FUND) 	

25	 AMANAHRAYA TRUSTEES BERHAD – AFFIN HWANG PRINCIPLED GROWTH FUND	 1,284,000	 0.23

26	 MALAYSIA NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SENDIRIAN BERHAD – GREAT EASTERN LIFE 	 1,200,000	 0.22
	 ASSURANCE (MALAYSIA) BERHAD (DG)	

27	 MALAYSIA NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SENDIRIAN BERHAD – GREAT EASTERN LIFE 	 1,156,100	 0.21
	 ASSURANCE (MALAYSIA) BERHAD (SHF)	

28	 AMANAHRAYA TRUSTEES BERHAD – PUBLIC ISLAMIC TREASURES GROWTH FUND	 1,155,100	 0.21

29	 CITIGROUP NOMINEES (ASING) SDN BHD – CBNY FOR DFA EMERGING MARKETS 
	 SMALL CAP SERIES	 1,151,514	 0.21

30	 LAU KIING KANG	 1,092,300	 0.20

	 TOTAL	 459,563,935	 83.63
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OTHER INFORMATION

Material Contracts Involving Directors And Major Shareholders
There were no material contracts of the Company and its subsidiaries involving directors and substantial shareholders during 
the financial year ended 31 December 2015 other than the recurrent related party transactions (“RRPT”) as disclosed below.

Recurrent Related Party Transactions (“RRPT”)
The Shareholder Mandate for the Group to enter into RRPT of a revenue and trading nature was renewed at the last Annual 
General Meeting of Hock Seng Lee Berhad held on 21 May 2015.  Details of the RRPT conducted during the financial year 
ended 31 December 2015 pursuant to the Shareholder Mandate are as follows:

The Related Parties include companies with shareholdings by Dato Yu Chee Hoe,  Yii Chee Sing, the estate of late Yu Chee Lieng, 
Datuk Yii Chi Hau and/or Lau Kiing Kang and Lau Kiing Yiing (Lau Brothers) and/or persons connected to them.

Share Buy-Back
The Company did not purchase any of its own shares during the financial year ended 31 December 2015.  

The total number of treasury shares held by the Company at 31 December 2015 was 33,158,781 (2014: 33,158,781).

Non-Audit Fees
The amount of non-audit fees paid by the Group to the external auditors for professional services rendered for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2015 was RM25,100.00.

Nature of Transactions Related Parties Value of RPT 
(RM’000)

Income on hiring plant and machinery and vessels Hock Seng Lee Corporation Sdn Bhd and its subsidiaries (959)

Purchase of motor vehicles and machinery Hock Seng Lee Timber Sdn Bhd and its subsidiaries 636

Purchase of consumables and raw materials Hock Seng Lee Corporation Sdn Bhd and its subsidiaries
Megapron Engineering Sdn Bhd
Hock Seng Lee Realty Sdn Bhd
Lau Kou Chiong & Sons Sdn Bhd

36,854

Repair and maintenance services Hock Seng Lee Timber Sdn Bhd and its subsidiaries
Hock Seng Lee Holdings Sdn Bhd and its subsidiaries

144

Hire of plant and machinery and vessels Hock Seng Lee Timber Sdn Bhd and its subsidiaries
Hock Seng Lee Heavy Industries Sdn Bhd
Hock Seng Lee Corporation Sdn Bhd and its subsidiaries
Megakina Shipping Sdn Bhd
Jentera Ceria Sdn Bhd

3,769

Rental of premises Hock Seng Lee Realty Sdn Bhd
Hock Seng Lee Timber Sdn Bhd
Hock Seng Lee Holdings Sdn Bhd and its subsidiaries

78

Freight and handling charges Hock Seng Lee Timber Sdn Bhd and its subsidiaries
Hock Seng Lee Corporation Sdn Bhd and its subsidiaries
Megakina Shipping Sdn Bhd
Jentera Ceria Sdn Bhd

594

Piling and geotechnical services Borneo Geotechnical Engineering Sdn Bhd 1,518

Aggregate Gross Value 44,552
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT the Thirty-Fifth Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of Hock Seng Lee Berhad (“the Company”) will 
be held at Riverside Majestic Hotel, Jalan Tunku Abdul Rahman, 93100 Kuching, Sarawak, Malaysia at 9.00 am on 19 May 2016 for 
the following business:

ORDINARY BUSINESS	

1.	 To receive and adopt the Audited Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2015 together with 
the Reports of the Directors and Auditors thereon.

2.	 To approve the payment of a final single tier exempt dividend of 7% per ordinary share of RM0.20 each for 
the year ended 31 December 2015 as recommended by the Directors.

3.	 To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of up to RM214,400 (2015: RM194,700) for the financial year 
ending 31 December 2016.

4.	 To re-elect as a Director, Mr Yii Chee Sing, who retires by rotation pursuant to Article 115 of the Company’s 
Articles of Association.

5.	 To re-elect as a Director, Mr Lau Kiing Kang, who retires by rotation pursuant to Article 115 of the Company’s 
Articles of Association.

6.	 To re-elect as a Director, Tuan Haji Abang Kashim Bin Abang Morshidi, who retires by rotation pursuant to 
Article 115 of the Company’s Articles of Association.

7.	 To re-appoint as a Director, Dr Chou Chii Ming, who retires pursuant to Section 129(2) of the Companies Act 
1965, to hold office until the next AGM.

8.	 To re-appoint as a Director, Dato’ Mohd. Nadzir Bin Mahmud, who retires pursuant to Section 129(2) of the 
Companies Act 1965, to hold office until the next AGM.

9.	 To re-appoint Messrs KPMG as auditors of the Company and to authorise the Board of Directors to fix their 
remuneration.

SPECIAL BUSINESS
To consider and if thought fit, pass the following Ordinary Resolutions:

10.	 PROPOSED RENEWAL OF AUTHORITY FOR SHARE BUY-BACK 

	 “THAT, subject to the Companies Act, 1965, the Company’s Articles of Association and the requirements of 
Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Malaysia”) and any other relevant authorities, the Company be and 
is hereby authorised to purchase such number of ordinary shares of RM0.20 each (“Shares”) in the Company 
(“Proposed Share Buy-Back”) as may be determined by the Directors of the Company (“Directors”) from time 
to time through Bursa Malaysia upon such terms and conditions as the Directors may deem fit, necessary and 
expedient in the interest of the Company provided that:

i.	 the maximum number of Shares which may be purchased and/or held by the Company pursuant to 
this resolution shall not exceed ten percent (10%) of the total issued and paid-up share capital of the 
Company at the point of purchase provided that in the event that the Company ceases to hold all or 
any part of such Shares Purchased as a result of cancellation of shares, sale of shares on the market 
of Bursa Malaysia or distribution of treasury shares to shareholders as share dividends, the Company 
shall be entitled to further purchase and/or hold such additional number of Shares provided that such 
further purchase in aggregate with the treasury shares held by the Company at the point of purchase 
shall not exceed ten percent (10%) of the total issued and paid up share capital of the Company for 
the time being; and

ii.	 the maximum amount of funds to be allocated by the Company for the Proposed Share Buy-Back shall 
not exceed the Company’s latest audited retained earnings of RM484,484,911 as at 31 December 
2015.

	 AND THAT authority be and is hereby given to the Directors to decide in their absolute discretion to either 
retain the Shares purchased by the Company as treasury shares to be either distributed as share dividends or 
resold on Bursa Malaysia or subsequently cancelled, or to cancel the Shares so purchased, or a combination 
of both AND THAT the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to act and to take all such 
steps and to do all things as they may deem necessary or expedient to implement, finalise and to give full 
effect to the Proposed Share Buy-Back. 

RESOLUTION

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10
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	 AND FURTHER THAT the authority hereby given shall commence immediately upon passing of this ordinary 
resolution and shall continue in force until:-

(a)	 the conclusion of the next AGM of the Company at which time it shall lapse, unless by ordinary 
resolution passed at that meeting, the authority is renewed, either unconditionally or subject to 
conditions;

(b)	 the expiration of the period within which the next AGM is required by law to be held;

(c)	 revoked or varied by ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders in general meeting, 

whichever occurs first”

11.	 PROPOSED RENEWAL OF SHAREHOLDER MANDATE IN RELATION TO THE RELATED PARTY 
TRANSACTIONS INVOLVING RECURRENT TRANSACTIONS OF A REVENUE OR TRADING NATURE 
(“Proposed Shareholder Mandate”)

	 “THAT pursuant to Paragraph 10.09 of Chapter 10 of the Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia, the 
Directors of the Company be and are hereby empowered to enter into recurrent related party transactions of 
a revenue or trading nature of the activities as set out in Section 3.1.1 of the Circular to shareholders which 
are necessary for its day-to-day operations and are in the ordinary course of business and are on terms not 
more favourable to the related party than those generally available to the public at any time until:-

(a)	 the conclusion of the next AGM of the Company, at which time the shareholder mandate will lapse, 
unless by a resolution passed at the meeting, the authority is renewed;

(b)	 the expiration of the period within which the next AGM after the date it is required to be held pursuant 
to section 143(1) of the Companies Act, 1965 (but shall not extend to such extension as may be 
allowed pursuant to section 143(2) of the Companies Act, 1965); or

(c)	 revoked or varied by resolution passed by the shareholders in general meeting,

	 whichever is the earlier, upon such terms and conditions as the Directors of the Company, may in their 
absolute discretion deem fit.

	 AND THAT the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to complete and to do all such acts 
and things they may consider expedient or necessary to give effect to the Proposed Shareholder Mandate.”

12.	 To retain as an Independent Director, Dato’ Haji Idris Bin Buang, who has served in that capacity for a 
cumulative term of more than nine years.

13.	 To retain as an Independent Director, Dr Chou Chii Ming, who has served in that capacity for a cumulative 
term of more than nine years.

14.	 To transact any other business for which due notice shall have been given in accordance with the Company’s 
Articles of Association and the Companies Act, 1965.

11

12

13

NOTICE OF DIVIDEND ENTITLEMENT DATE AND PAYMENT
NOTICE IS ALSO HEREBY GIVEN THAT, subject to the approval of the shareholders at the Thirty-fifth AGM a final single tier exempt 
dividend of 7% per ordinary share in respect of the year ended 31 December 2015 will be paid on 23 June 2016 to Depositors whose 
name appears in the Record of Depositors on 9 June 2016.

A Depositor shall qualify for entitlement to the Dividend only in respect of:

(a)	 Shares transferred into the Depositor’s Securities Account before 4.00 pm on 9 June 2016 in respect of transfers; and

(b)	 Shares bought on Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad on a cum entitlement basis in accordance with the Rules of Bursa Malaysia 
Securities Berhad.

By Order of the Board

Augustine Law Sek Hian 
(MIA No. 10087)
Company Secretary

Kuching
26 April 2016
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GENERAL MEETING RECORD OF DEPOSITORS
1.  	 For the purpose of determining a member who shall be entitled to attend this AGM, the Company shall request Bursa Malaysia 

Depository Sdn Bhd to issue a General Meeting Record of Depositors as at 12 May 2016.  Only a depositor whose name appears 
on the General Meeting Record of Depositors as at 12 May 2016 shall be entitled to attend this AGM or to appoint proxies to 
attend and/or vote on his/her behalf.

PROXY
2.	 A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at this meeting is entitled to appoint any person as his/her proxy to attend 

and vote instead of the member at the meeting.

3.	 Where a member appoints two proxies, the appointment shall be invalid unless he/she specifies the proportions of his/her 
holdings to be represented by each proxy. 

4.	 Where a member is an exempt authorised nominee which holds ordinary shares in the Company for multiple beneficial owners 
in one securities account (“omnibus account”), there is no limit to the number of proxies which the exempt authorised nominee 
may appoint in respect of each omnibus account it holds.

5.	 The instrument appointing a proxy in the case of an individual shall be signed by the appointer, or his/her attorney duly 
authorised in writing and in the case of a corporation the instrument appointing a proxy must be under Seal or under the hand 
of an attorney duly authorised in writing.  

6.	 The instrument appointing a proxy must be completed, signed and deposited at the Registered Office of the Company at Lot 
1004, Jalan Kwong Lee Bank, 93450 Kuching, Sarawak, Malaysia not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time set for 
holding the meeting or any adjournment thereof.  

ABSTENTION FROM VOTING
7.	 The payment of Directors’ fees shall be distributed to the Non-executive Directors.  All the Non-executive Directors of the 

Company who are shareholders of the Company will abstain from voting on Resolution 3 concerning the payment of Directors’ 
fees.

8.	 The Directors and major shareholders and persons connected to them as disclosed in 3.2 of the Circular to Shareholders will 
abstain from voting on Resolution 11 pertaining to the Proposed Renewal of Shareholder Mandate in relation to the related party 
transactions involving recurrent transactions of a revenue or trading nature.

RESOLUTION PURSUANT TO SECTION 129(6) OF THE COMPANIES ACT 1965
9.	 The re-appointment of Dr Chou Chii Ming and Dato’ Mohd Nadzir Bin Mahmud, who have attained the age of seventy (70) 

years old respectively, to hold office until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company shall take effect if 
the proposed Resolution 7 & 8 have been passed respectively by a majority of not less than three-fourth (3/4) of such members 
as being entitled to vote in person or by proxy at the AGM.

EXPLANATORY NOTES ON SPECIAL BUSINESS
10. 	 Ordinary Resolution Pursuant To Proposed Renewal of Authority for Share Buy-Back 
	 The proposed Ordinary Resolution 10, if passed, will give the Directors of the Company authority to purchase the Company’s 

Shares through Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad up to ten percent (10%) of the issued and paid up share capital of the Company.  
This authority, unless revoked or varied at a general meeting, will expire at the conclusion of the next AGM of the Company.  
Further information on the Proposed Renewal of Authority for Share Buy-Back is set out in the Circular to Shareholders of the 
Company dated 26 April 2016 which is despatched together with the Company’s Annual Report 2015.

11.	 Ordinary Resolution Pursuant To Proposed Renewal of Shareholder Mandate 
	 For Ordinary Resolution 11, further information on the Proposed Renewal of Shareholder Mandate in relation to the related 

party transactions involving recurrent transactions of a revenue or trading nature is set out in the Circular to Shareholders of 
the Company dated 26 April 2016 which is despatched together with the Company’s Annual Report 2015. This mandate, if 
approved, will expire at the conclusion of the next AGM of the Company unless revoked or varied at a general meeting.

12.	 Ordinary Resolutions 12 and 13 - To Retain Dato’ Haji Idris Buang and Dr Chou Chii Ming as Independent Directors 
	 In line with the Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance 2012, the Nomination Committee has assessed the independence of 

both Dato’ Haji Idris Buang and Dr Chou Chii Ming who have served as Independent Directors of the Company for more than 
nine years.  The Board of Directors concurred with the recommendation of the Nomination Committee that Both Dato’ Haji 
Idris Buang and Dr Chou Chii Ming can continue to bring independent and objective judgements to board deliberations and 
recommended them to continue to act as independent directors of the Company.  
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	 Dato’ Haji Idris Buang has been an Independent Non-executive Director since 1996 and became Chairman of HSL in 2008.  
Dato’ Idris is familiar with the Group’s unique operations and the Sarawak business climate making his contribution and 
experience highly valuable.  Dato’ Idris is a person of social standing in the local community and has presided over the 
Company during which time its performance has been exemplary.  Dato’ is clearly able to maintain an independent judgment 
given he has no executive role or shareholding in the company, is not related to any executive director or other staff members 
of the Company, not acting as nominee of any executive director or major shareholders of the company, nor has any other 
involvement in the day to day business of the Company or being engaged as an advisor or involved in any business transactions 
with the Group that would compromise his independence.  Dato’ has proven to be professional, diligent and able to bring 
independent and objective judgments in Board deliberation and putting the interests of the Group to the fore as well as 
proactively promoting the best practices of internal controls and corporate governance.

	 Dr Chou joined the board in 2001 and he continues to contribute his extensive experience and knowledge to our Board.  
Dr Chou is a highly respected community leader and his corporate/community background, robust health and thorough 
understanding of Board procedures and HSL’s specialized business enables him to provide objective and well-considered 
input. Dr Chou is clearly able to maintain an independent judgment given he has no executive role or major shareholding 
in the company, is not related to any executive director or other staff members of the company, not acting as nominee of any 
executive director or major shareholders of the company, nor has any other involvement in the day to day business of the 
company or being engaged as an advisor or involved in any business transactions with the Group that would compromise his 
independence.  He has proven to be professional, diligent and able to bring independent and objective judgments in Board 
deliberation and putting the interests of the Group to the fore as well as proactively promoting the best practices of internal 
controls and corporate governance.

FURTHER DETAILS OF DIRECTORS WHO ARE STANDING FOR RE-ELECTION/RE-APPOINTMENT
13.	 Details of Directors who are standing for re-election/re-appointment are set out in the Profile of Directors on pages 12 to 13 

of the Annual Report 2015. Information relating to the respective Director’s interest in the securities of the Company and its 
subsidiaries is set out on pages 23 to 24 of the Annual Report 2015.



HOCK SENG LEE BERHAD
(Company No.: 045556-X)

F O R M  O F  P R O X Y

I/We (full name as per NRIC/company name in block capitals) ............................................................................................................

NRIC/Company No. ............................................................................................................................................................................

of (full address) ................................................................................................................................................................................... 

being a member of HOCK SENG LEE BERHAD hereby appoint (full name as per NRIC in block capitals) ..................................... 
	
……………………………………………………………………….................................................	NRIC ................................................

of (full address) …………………………………………….................…..………………………………………………..…………………… 
 
or failing him/her …………………………………………………..................................................	NRIC ................................................ 

of (full address) ................................................................................................................................................................................... 
as my/our proxy to vote for me/us and on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held on 19 May 2016 
or at any adjournment thereof.

           RESOLUTIONS FOR AGAINST

1.     Adoption of  the Audited Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 
2015 together with the Reports of the Directors and Auditors thereon

2.     Declaration of a final single tier dividend of 7% per ordinary share for the year 
ended 31 December 2015

3. Approval of the payment of Directors’ fees of up to RM214,400 for the financial 
year ending 31 December 2016

4. Re-election of Mr Yii Chee Sing as Director

5. Re-election of Mr Lau Kiing Kang as Director

6. Re-election of Tuan Haji Abang Kashim Bin Abang Morshidi as Director

7. Re-appointment of Dr Chou Chii Ming as Director

8. Re-appointment of Dato’ Mohd. Nadzir Bin Mahmud as Director

9. Re-appointment of Messrs KPMG as auditors of the Company and to authorise 
the Board of Directors to fix their remuneration

10. Renewal of Authority for the Proposed Share Buy-Back

11. Renewal of Shareholder Mandate in relation to the related party transactions 
involving recurrent transactions of a revenue or trading nature

12. To retain Dato’ Haji Idris Bin Buang as an Independent Director

13. To retain Dr Chou Chii Ming as an Independent Director

(Please indicate with a “ √ ” in the space above how you wish your vote to be cast. If no specific direction as to voting is indicated 
above, the proxy will vote or abstain from voting as he/she thinks fit.)

Dated this .............. day of ..........………………2016
			 

Signature of shareholder			 

NOTES:
i.	 A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at this meeting is entitled to appoint any person as his/her proxy to attend and vote instead 

of the member at the meeting.  

ii.	 Where a member appoints two proxies, the appointment shall be invalid unless he/she specifies the proportions of his/her holdings to be 
represented by each proxy.   

iii.	 Where a member is an exempt authorised nominee which holds ordinary shares in the Company for multiple beneficial owners in one securities 
account (“omnibus account”), there is no limit to the number of proxies which the exempt authorised nominee may appoint in respect of each 
omnibus account it holds.  

iv.	 The instrument appointing a proxy in the case of an individual shall be signed by the appointer, or his/her attorney duly authorised in writing and 
in the case of a corporation the instrument appointing a proxy must be under Seal or under the hand of an attorney duly authorised in writing.  

v.	 The instrument appointing a proxy must be completed, signed and deposited at the Registered Office of the Company at Lot 1004, Jalan Kwong 
Lee Bank, 93450 Kuching, Sarawak, Malaysia not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time set for holding the meeting or any adjournment 
thereof. 

No. of shares held



The Company Secretary
HOCK SENG LEE BERHAD
Lot 1004   Jalan Kwong Lee Bank
93450 Kuching
Sarawak
Malaysia

stamp






